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STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to present the annual
results of Daohe Global Group Limited (the “Company’, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “Daohe Global’) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

In 2023, with the world entering a post-pandemic era, the macro
environment improved, and global economic activities and markets
gradually resumed and revitalised. However, its overall recovery pace
was slower than expected, and coupled with incessant geopolitical
conflicts, high inflation, continuous interest rate hikes by US Federal
Reserve System and tightening of monetary policies haze over the
world, they aggravated the uncertainties in the macro environment,
undermined consumer confidence, and drove the economy falling
into a low-growth trend, which affected the trade market inevitably
and exerted certain pressure on the Group’s business environment and
operations. During the year, the inventory levels of some customers
remained high and augmented by the weak demand in key markets,
which led to a decrease in order and shipment volume and affected
the performance of the Group’s trading and supply chain management
services business.

For the operation of online social platforms business, with the COVID
pandemic haze passing away and the gradual relaxation and lifting
of the pandemic control measures in China, the Group's operation of
online social platforms was back on track as a result of the increasingly
active online live streaming activities, the reopening of offline shops
and stabilisation of logistics services. In addition, social sentiments
showed a steady improvement, with consumers regaining their
interest in online games and pop toys products, which further
boosted consumption desire. During the year, the Group further
expanded its business and broadened the user base of games by
actively cooperating with various online platforms to expand sales
and distribution channels. We also developed mini apps to enable
game users to participate in claw crane games directly on social
media, thereby propelling traffic and business growth. For the pop
toys products, the Group launched a new series of blind box products
during the year and successfully boosted its sales and drove the
momentum of the sales of goods business. Benefiting from the sound
development of our online and offline businesses, the Group's online
social platform business achieved satisfactory growth in a year that saw
the overall economy just recovering.
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STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
TR ES

Looking forward to 2024, the global economy is still fraught with
uncertainties. The expected slowdown in growth, high-interest rate
environment, prevailing high inflation, tensions in multilateral relations
such as the tussle between the two major economies of China and
the United States, the Russo-Ukrainian war and the Israeli-Palestinian
conflict may affect the prices of energy and raw materials and coupled
with the pressure on the global supply chain caused by the Red Sea
Crisis, which have posed a certain degree of challenge to our trading
and supply chain management services business. Given the slowdown
in global economic growth, international trade will remain weak in
the near term and customers will be more cautious in placing orders,
hence the Group does not expect much breakthrough in the demand
for orders. Moreover, as the supply chain was disrupted and obstructed
by the COVID pandemic in the past few years and despite its gradual
recovery being in line with the macro environment, however, industry
ecology has changed and customers are pursuing more efficient
and high-quality services with more competitive prices, footing the
operating environment more challenging. The Group will continue to
work closely with its customers and supply chain partners to provide
them with comprehensive value-added services and endeavour to
meet the needs of different customers.

As for the online social platform business, under the environment
where the domestic market is still in the stage of post-epidemic
recovery and the complex turbulence abroad has not slowed
down, the Group will continue to face the difficulties and expand its
business, including reaching potential users, attracting new users and
improving business efficiency through live broadcasts in cooperation
with key opinion leaders on different online platforms and linking
up brand value and influence of key opinion leaders. The Group will
also continue to strive for more market share by expanding sales and
distribution channels and comprehensively upgrading user experience.
At the same time, in view of the satisfactory development of the claw
crane games, the Group plans to expand them to overseas markets
to further broaden our income base. As for pop toys, the Group will
explore more popular products and customize exclusive intellectual
property products to cater to consumers’ pursuit of unique products
with storage value, create differentiated advantages for the business,
and facilitate long-term business development.

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

RE-_FT_F  2HEENDRHITEERAE -
BHRERE SN XRE  SREDARE
PEMAKLERAS BEEF UEBERES
BARERREMAETEERRRMEER
MEATE S 2 RHERIEEKRE T - EAKE
B hHEETERBEEEY —E k8 - &R
REGEERNE BREZEMADERRRK
55 AEPTEREAZEERE  AKEENE
FRREEARRE - I BEBRFHERRE
FERIERE - XM #REERECREEEIRE
FEHRE  BITEERCRE L EPEXES
MEENRS  EABFHINER  FEERE
FANE -AKEKEERER LERBSIER
HEZAE REPRHEZEMNEZERY %
METRBEFHFER -

WX FPEEB @ EERATSINERER
B BIMERBBBERAMENRET K
SERSEBEOMT L HEAREY 258
HARMELEFENBEAAIERER  BEBBELHM
BEERTEN BRBEERPLRAFHAS
BRI EB N - ARBE ISR REANIHE R #H
RE 2EALAFPER FREZHMISIEE
o [ ERIEEERERER - NREG
M EEERBERERIITS £ HHREAN
SENWAER -ERWRIMAERTE - A%
EHFEREZAPFIRERHE I NBERNER -
BEHEEWARBEER BFERNER B
EBITEZR(ED  HBHEBREER -



STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In the future, the Group will continue to focus on its principal business
and work closely with its customers, online platforms and supply
chain partners to cope with the ever-changing external environment
prudently, equipped with a solid business foundation and the ability to
respond flexibly. At the same time, the Group will continue to enhance
its quality in services and products, proactively improve operational
efficiency, exercise stringent cost control and focus on profitability
enhancement to achieve sustainable growth.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Board of
Directors, the management team and the staff for their hard work and
dedication in the past challenging year, which are the cornerstone of
the Group’s success. | would also like to thank our customers, business
partners and shareholders for their long-term support and trust in the
Group and willing to move forward with us.

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R DA

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

The Group's revenue fell by approximately 14.5%, to approximately
US$44.4 million from approximately US$51.9 million in the previous
year.

In the trading and supply chain management services business, the
Group continued to face challenges from high inflation, tightened
monetary policies, customers’ excessive inventories and political
instability, which weakened demand in key markets. The shipment
volume for the year declined by approximately 19.7% year-on-year to
approximately US$130.8 million. Moreover, the revenue of the Group's
trading and supply chain management services business decreased
by approximately 34.1% to approximately US$17.6 million from
approximately US$26.7 million in the previous year due to the drop in
shipment volume and the change in sales mix with a lower volume of
trading business.

As for the online social platforms business, its total revenue increased
by approximately 6.3% to approximately US$26.7 million from
approximately US$25.1 million in the previous year following the
relaxation of COVID-related restrictions in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

Gross profit decreased slightly by approximately 0.3% to approximately
US$17.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease
in overall revenue was fully offset by the improved gross margin of the
online social platforms business.

Other income for the year decreased from approximately US$1.4
million in 2022 to approximately US$1.0 million. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the reversal of provisions in prior year and lower
subsidy income from the PRC and Hong Kong Governments.

Operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately US$15.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.5% from approximately US$17.0 million in the previous
year. The savings in operating expenses were mainly due to reduced
personnel costs.

The Group recognised non-cash impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, and right-of-use assets totalling approximately US$0.5
million for the online social platforms segment in the year ended 31
December 2022. No such losses were incurred during the review year.

The online social platforms segment achieved a turnaround during
the year, offsetting the decline in the trading and supply chain
management services business. Overall, the Group achieved a profit for
the year of approximately US$2.0 million, almost double the profit for
the year in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Operating Segmentation

The Group’s business comprises two operating segments, namely: (i)
trading and supply chain management services; and (i) operation of
online social platforms.

(i) Trading and supply chain management services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the shipment value
of trading and supply chain management services decreased
by approximately 19.7% to approximately US$130.8 million
from approximately US$162.8 million in the previous year. The
decline was a result of sluggish demand in key markets and the
high inventories of customers amid high inflation, aggressive
tightening of monetary polices and uncertainties caused by
political instability. Customers were more cautious when placing
orders, especially in the first half of 2023.

Geographical Analysis
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Shipments to North America fell by approximately 16.1% to
approximately US$101.3 million. North America remained the
Group's largest market, accounting for approximately 77.4% of
the Group's total shipment value (2022: approximately 74.2%).

Shipments to Europe decreased by approximately 30.2%
to approximately US$21.3 million. Europe accounted for
approximately 16.3% of the Group’s total shipment value (2022:
approximately 18.7%).

Shipments categorised as “"Others”, which mainly includes
shipments to the Southern Hemisphere, fell by approximately
28.7% due to fewer orders from a South African customer. “Others”
represented approximately 6.3% of the segment’s total shipment
value (2022: approximately 7.1%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE RS

(i)

The trading and supply chain management services segment MRZZBE-=F B RHEREERBSE
recorded revenue of approximately US$17.6 million in 2023 (2022: SRS U 4917600000 T (ZE - —F : 4
approximately US$26.7 million), accounting for approximately 26,700,000 70) b A BB EEHI39.7% (=
39.7% of the Group’s total revenue (2022: approximately 51.5%). T T4 #)515%) ©

Operation of online social platforms (i) AEEHEHXTFE

During the review year, revenue from the operation of online REBFE 2@ AR Fa s lEmhm=
social platforms climbed by approximately 6.3% to approximately T = ZF#925100000K T EFA K 63%E =
US$26.7 million in 2023 from approximately US$25.1 million in T — = F#926,700,0003F T °

2022.
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Sales of goods P on 865 3.8
25.1
The gamified social and online entertainment business recorded BERFAEBINEZE - +—ARES
moderate growth during the year, as the business was less WEEFTEGHEARGIE  ER TR R
disrupted after the PRC Government gradually eased the COVID- GRS EBIINTERRD - W%
related restrictions since November 2022. In addition, the Group BRAFEESRIIER o I - NEBFE
has actively collaborated with other platforms to expand the BEEM T aEE  HRAR EIEEERE
business of claw crane mobile online games. % e
In terms of sales of goods, the decrease was mainly due to the FHmiHEREAE  BPEELHRBALHE
decline in sales of consumer products due to the slower than EEELLIEEIE MG HRFINE  BEEE M
expected recovery of the domestic economy and the intensified HEE T - A - EEH RN ERNHED
market competition. However, the decrease was partially offset by REIEFEREETERSEEIIRE - NF
the improvement in sales of pop toys to distributors during the EmoEEEE SRt AEmNE - i
year as the new series of blind boxes were launched and offline TEHHOHERHEEENTK o
business activities gradually resumed after the pandemic had
subsided.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had deposits and cash and cash
equivalents of approximately US$20.1 million (2022: approximately
US$18.2 million). In addition, it had total banking facilities of
approximately US$5.4 million including borrowing facilities of
approximately US$0.4 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately US$5.6 million and approximately US$0.5 million,
respectively).

The Group's current ratio was approximately 1.8 (2022: approximately
1.8) and its gearing ratio was approximately 0.02 (2022: approximately
0.04), based on interest-bearing borrowing of approximately US$0.3
million (2022: approximately US$0.4 million) and total equity of
approximately US$13.3 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately US$11.3 million). There has been no material change in
the Group's borrowings since 31 December 2023.

Trade receivables amounted to approximately US$3.9 million as at
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately US$3.2 million). Gross trade
receivables over 90 days, which amounted to approximately US$0.9
million, were carefully monitored by the management and adequate
provisions have been made.

The Group follows a prudent treasury policy in managing investments
in financial products such as wealth management products. All
investments must be made in accordance with the Group’s treasury
policy with a view to utilising surplus cash generated from its business
operations.

The Group’s net asset value amounted to approximately US$13.3
million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately US$11.3 million).

The majority of the Group’s transactions during the review year were
denominated in US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. In order
to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risks, sales and purchases
are usually made in the same currency.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities or guarantees and did not have charges on any of its assets.

Remuneration Policy and Staff Development Scheme

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 261 employees (2022: 270).
Total staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately US$11.0 million (2022: approximately US$12.2 million).

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees
based on industry practices, and individual and the Group's
performance. In addition, the Company has a share option scheme
for eligible employees and discretionary bonuses are paid to staff
members based on individual and the Group's performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE LT

PROSPECTS

Although the macro-environment was recovering gradually from
the pandemic in 2023, the global economy will still be filled of
uncertainties in 2024. The speed of economic recovery has been slower
than expected, inflation and high interest rates prevail and geopolitical
tensions remain unresolved. The strained Sino-US relationship, coupled
with the upcoming presidential election in the United States in 2024,
also adds to the qualm surrounding the two nations' ties. Furthermore,
the enduring Red Sea crisis, which has seriously impacted global
maritime transportation, has triggered the threat of surging sea and air
freight costs and prolonged cargo backlogs. Disrupted global supply
chains are currently undergoing rebalancing, with customers expecting
superior and fast services at more competitive prices. All those factors
together are continuing to present challenges to the Group’s trading
and supply chain management services business. To address them, the
Group is committed to fostering close collaboration with customers
and supply chain partners. It will provide comprehensive value-
added services and continuously innovate in developing new product
categories to cater to the diverse needs of customers. Moreover, cost
control and productivity improvement will be top priorities of the
Group for the sake of enhancing profitability.

The online social platforms business recorded stable and promising
performance in 2023. However, with the domestic market not having
recovered as well as expected, compounded by the complex domestic
and international landscapes, the domestic economic environment has
remained turbulent and competition continues to be fierce. That said,
the Group believes where there are risks, there are also opportunities,
thus it is dedicated to continuing to expand its business and seizing
market opportunities. In the realm of gamified social and online
entertainment, the Group will ramp up efforts in acquiring new users.
It will strengthen collaboration with key opinion leaders on popular
social media platforms like “Douyin’, leveraging their reach to engage
potential users through live broadcasting. The strategic approach is
aimed at expanding the Group’s user base. Furthermore, the Group
will forge tighter partnership with other online platforms and sales
channels to enhance market share and consolidate its industry
position. It will also continuously upgrade its game system and the
claw crane online game mini-program to bolster user engagement and
satisfaction. The moves will not only enhance the loyalty of existing
users, but also attract new users and generate more traffic. Additionally,
the Group has plans to expand the claw crane online games to
overseas markets to drive business growth and boost overall revenue.
For the sale of pop toys, the Group will actively explore more popular
products and customize exclusive intellectual property products. It
will focus on developing innovative products like plush dolls and
collaborate with high-quality manufacturers to reduce procurement
costs and stimulate consumption.

The Group will stay vigilant and agile in coping with the ever-changing
macro environment, ensuring it has strong resilience to overcome
challenges. It has cost control measures in place and is dedicated to
meeting customer needs and delivering excellence. It will strive to
continuously improve productivity and operational efficiency, thereby
create long-term value for stakeholders.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors and Senior Management

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis ("Mr. Wong"), aged 54, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 September 2010 and was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company on 1 January 2019. He is the
chairman of the executive committee (the "Executive Committee”)
and the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee of the
Company (the "ESG Committee”) and holds directorship of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wong has been the President of the
Group since 5 February 2015. He was the chief financial officer of the
Group from January 2006 to January 2017

Prior to that, Mr. Wong was the head of corporate development
department of a Greater China based supply chain management
solutions provider and consumer products distributor, primarily
responsible for business development, mergers and acquisitions and
investor relations activities. Previously, Mr. Wong had worked at several
major international financial institutions where he gained extensive
experience in finance, investments and banking. Mr. Wong holds a
Master of Business Administration degree in finance from Boston
University in the United States of America, and a Bachelor of Science
degree from The University of British Columbia in Canada.

Mr. LONG Liping ("Mr. Long"), aged 49, was appointed as an
executive Director on 16 April 2019. Mr. Long is a member of the
Executive Committee.

Mr. Long has over 10 years of experience in management, risk control
management, auditing and accounting fields. Mr. Long is currently a
visiting professor of Hohai University, a president (finance) of Zhong
Xing Yong He Investments Co. Ltd.* (FR Bk 1% & B R A
chairman of the Medical and Health Committee of China Hong Kong
Economic Trading International Association and a vice chairman of

, vice

Hunan Chamber Commerce Jiangsu Province. Prior to that, Mr. Long
was a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Nanjing Lishui District and a \/ice president (risk control)
of Daohe Group Co, Ltd* (BEFE BB R A
a vice president (finance) of Nanjing Joyl\/lam Soence and Technology
Development Co. Ltd* (A R A RBIFERER A F

certified public accountant of Zhongxingcai Guanghua Certlﬂed Public

, an audit director and
), and a
Accountants. Mr. Long is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified

Public Accountants. He holds a Master of Agricultural Promotion
degree from Huazhong Agricultural University.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 63, has been an
independent non-executive Director since 22 April 2002. Mr. Wang
is the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “"Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and
the nomination committee of the Company (the "Nomination
Committee’).

Mr. Wang is a managing director of 698 Capital Limited, a private Asian
investment firm. Previously, Mr. Wang was also a member of the board
and audit committee of NASDAQ listed Homeinns Hotel Group, one
of the China’s leading hotel chains. Mr. Wang was a member of the
board and the chief executive officer of GigaMedia Limited, a NASDAQ
listed online entertainment and game provider. Mr. Wang was also
previously a co-founder and executive director of KGI Asia Limited, an
investment bank and securities brokerage. Mr. Wang has also served
on the board of directors of several finance and technology companies
in the region and was previously a member of the board and the
chairman of the audit committee of Softbank Investment International
(Strategic) Limited (now known as SoftMedx Healthcare Limited) (stock
code: 648), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr.
Wang received his Juris Doctorate degree from Yale Law School and
practised corporate and securities law in Hong Kong and New York. He
also holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California at
Los Angeles in the United States of America.
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Mr. LAU Shu Yan ("Mr. Lau"), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 January 2017. Mr. Lau is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee; and a
member of each of the ESG Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau is currently a partner of an audit firm. He had previously worked
in an international accounting firm and has over 10 years of experience
in finance, auditing and accounting fields. Mr. Lau is currently an
independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit committee
and nomination committee, and member of the remuneration
committee of Perfectech International Holdings Limited (stock code:
765), the securities of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau graduated from the University of Newcastle upon
Tyne, United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Arts degree majoring in
accounting and financial analysis. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lau was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Hephaestus Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8173) from 31 December 2015 to 13 November 2019, the
securities of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He
was also an independent non-executive director and chairman of the
audit committee of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology
Corporation Limited* (3= 31| 1 B 22 8% B AR 19 B R A &)) (stock
code: 8301, and its securities were delisted from the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 6 December 2021) from 30 September 2016 to 9 April
2020.
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Mr. ZHANG Huijun ("Mr. Zhang"), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 January 2017. Mr. Zhang
is a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Zhang is currently a vice-chairman of each of China Film
Association, Beijing Film Specialist Association and Beijing Film and TV
Artist Association* (3b R 2R MK 1 &), deputy director of China
Council for the Promotion of Art Education, a tutor and professor of the
Academy of Chinese Culture under Peking University, director of China
Research Institute of Film Technology* (FF Bl % & = $7 15 17 7 9% )
vice chairman and standing member of the council of China Society of
Motion Picture and Television Engineers, member of each of the
Academic Degree Committee of the State Council and National Art
Professional Master Degree Education Steering Committee under the
Ministry of Education. He is also a member of Committee of Quality
Education in Higher Education Institutions under the Ministry of
Fducation* (ARHABEH R E2REEHE TEEZEE) head of
the higher education division under the Education Committee of China
Photographers Association, principal specialist of Beijing Film and
Television Art Research Centre, vice-president of China Advertising
Association of Commerce and a specialist enjoying special government
subsidies granted by the State Council. Mr. Zhang is also a tutor to
doctoral students and a professor of Beijing Film Academy in which he
was enrolled in 1978 (Class 78) as a student under the department of
photography and graduated with a Bachelor of Arts (cinematography)
degree in July 1982. In the same year, he assumed a teaching post at
his alma mater shortly after graduating with flying colours.

Mr. Zhang was a member of the national committee of the 10th and
11th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC"),
a member of the 10th and 11th CPPCC Subcommittee of Education,
Science, Culture, Health and Sports, as well as a specially invited
supervisor of the Ministry of Public Security. He has acted as the deputy
director of Beijing Film Academy for more than 10 years and the
director of Beijing Film Academy for more than 15 years.
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Mr. Zhang was accredited the Outstanding Tutor Award* ({8 75 8§ &
R RIH 82) at the 99 Arts Festival for University Students Across China
1999* (2 B K 2 £ #1f7 &) co-hosted by the Ministry of Education,
Ministry of Culture, Central Committee of the Communist Youth
League of China, State Administration of Radio, Film and Television and
the Beijing Municipal Government. He was conferred Commendatore
dell’Ordine della Stella della Solidarieta Italiana (3rd Class) (22 A F{=
BZEBHE (ZHEE)) by the president of the Italian Republic in
recognition of his positive contribution to the promotion of cultural
exchange and friendly cooperation between the PRC and ltaly. Being
the awardee of Award of Special Contribution to the Nurture of Talents
for Cultural Industries of China* (Ff B3 {b B % A A 5 B FR & B
K #2) by the organising committee of Forum on International Cultural
Industries (China), Mr. Zhang has been engaged as a life member of the
judging committee of Macau International Movie Festival.

Being a famous cinematographer, director, producer in the PRC, as
well as a “fifth generation” leading figure of the PRC's movie industry,
Mr. Zhang has involved himself in the production of over 20 movies,
making enormous artistic achievement and winning numerous
prestigious awards at home and abroad. Besides, Mr. Zhang has
presented over 300 TV productions, including drama series and other
genres, in the capacity of director, cinematographer, organiser and
producer. He has written, compiled and undertaken over 20 academic
papers. He has undertaken research projects of state and provincial
level covering the aspects of science, education and technology as a
project leader or principal participant.
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Daohe Global Group Limited (the “Company”) has adopted the
code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as stated in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”") contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
as the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) of the Company. The
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is committed to
complying with the Code to the extent that the Directors consider it to
be applicable to the Company and suited to the needs and interests of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

The corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise an
effective Board, sound internal controls, appropriate independence
policy, and transparency and accountability to all shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). The Company has applied the
principles of the Code to its corporate governance structure and
practices as described in this report.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions of
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, save for
the deviations discussed in the relevant paragraphs below.

(A) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.

The Company, having made specific enquiries, obtained
confirmations from all the Directors that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by relevant employees
who are likely to possess unpublished inside information in
relation to the Company or its securities.

No incident of non-compliance with the Employees Written
Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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(B) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board had five Directors comprising
two executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company had at all times complied with Rules 3.10 and Rules
3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Company requests the Directors to disclose annually to
the Company the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments.

Independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Director
provide the Board with diversified skills, expertise and experience.
Their views and participation in Board and committee meetings
bring independent, constructive and informed comments on
issues relating to the Company’s strategies and policies to ensure
that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into account.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Company has established mechanisms including
(i) strengthening the independent non-executive Directors’
recruitment process to include criteria such as each candidates’
available time commitments and qualification; (ii) reviewing the
number of independent non-executive Directors on an annual
basis; (iii) performing additional assessment or evaluation of
independent non-executive Directors’ contribution; and (iv)
engage external independent professional advisors to assist
performance of directors’ duties when necessary. The Board
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms on an annual basis.

An updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and
functions is maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. Independent non-executive Directors are
identified as such in all corporate communications containing the
name of the Directors.

Mr. ZHOU Xijian, a non-executive Director and chairman of the
Board (“Chairman”) who has resigned with effect from 2 June
2023, is a director and shareholder of Daohe Global Investment
Holding Limited (‘Daohe Global Investment’), a controlling
shareholder of the Company. Save as disclosed, none of the
members of the Board has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) with
each other.

Biographical details of the Directors as at 31 December 2023
are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”section of this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 30 August 2013 (which was revised on 14
December 2018) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board.

The Company recognises the importance of having a diverse
team of Board members, which is an essential element in
maintaining an effective Board and enhancing corporate
governance standard. The Nomination Committee of the
Company is delegated the authority (@amongst other things) to
review and assess the diversity of the Board, with the objective of
maintaining an appropriate mix and balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives on the Board which are
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
industry and professional experience, cultural and educational
background, gender, age and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
make recommendation to the Board. The Board may adopt
and/or amend from time to time (as applicable) such diversity
perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are appropriate
to the Company’s business and Board succession planning, as
applicable.

The Board's composition as at the date of this report under
diversified perspectives is summarised as follows:
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Independent Non-Executive Director
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The Board aims to achieve gender diversity by the appointment
of one female director on or before 31 December 2024. To
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to
achieve gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant
hiring policies for considering candidates of senior management
positions which would take into account diversity perspectives
including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2023, the ratio of male and female in the
workforce is 49% and 51%, respectively. As such, the Company’s
workforce, including the senior management, have achieved
gender diversity between males and females. The Company
would continue to take into account of diversity perspectives
including gender diversity in its hiring.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy
annually.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
"Director Nomination Policy”) on 14 December 2018 setting
out the nomination procedures and the process and criteria to be
used by the Company in relation to the selection, appointment
and re-appointment of Directors to ensure that the Board
maintains an appropriate mix and balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives to the requirements of
the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
Directors at general meetings or appointment as Directors to fill
casual vacancies or as an addition to the Board.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
on directors’ and officers’ liabilities of the Company and its
subsidiaries in respect of any legal actions taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries arising
out of corporate activities.

Delegation by the Board

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes the responsibility for the leadership
and control of the Group and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising
the Group’s affairs. All Directors should make decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or
through Board committees. To ensure the Board is in a position
to exercise its powers in an informed manner, management
provides monthly management accounts and updates to the
Directors who also have full and timely access to all relevant
information and may take independent professional advice if
necessary. Furthermore, the types of decisions to be delegated
by the Board to management include implementation of the
strategy and direction determined by the Board, operation of
the Group’s businesses, preparation of financial statements and
operating budgets, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

To comply with the requirement under the CG Code, the Board is
also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including but not limited to:

- develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance;

- review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

- review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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TEERWE
- develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and - BT RAMERBERNEENESR
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; R TEARERFM: &
and
- review the Company’s compliance with the code and - BWEARRESTRIMNERRE(DE
disclosure in the corporate governance report. ERME) NN -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, in addition REBE_Z_=F+_A=1T—HILFE -
to performing the above duties, the Board met regularly MRET LSS  EFSTHSE AR
for reviewing and approving the financial and operating LiLET B REERR  CEERTAURD
performance, the compliance of CG Code and corporate HEER #EiE'JLT\ S WE B R HERR
governance report, and considering and approving the overall AR RS R B R BUR
strategies and policies of the Company.
The Company currently has five Board committees. The table ARRRBREAHAEFEZEE - TRIEMH
below provides membership information of these committees on EEFENETZELZESPETNEA -

which each Board member serves.

ESG
Board Committees Committee
EEZEg (Note 1)
Executive Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Hi% #HE€kK
Directors Committee Committee Committee Committee ERZEE
EE HiTZE®  EBRZE® §FHZEe REZ8E (BzEn)
| 1 1! ! | |
Non-executive Director ~ F#{TES
ZHOU Xijian (Chairman) =2 & #&1& (£ f) =2 M C
Executive Directors HITEE
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BEF C C
(Chief Executive Officerand ~ (fTHURE 48 5;)
President)
LONG Liping RS M

Independent non-executive B EHTES

Directors

WANG Arthur Minshiang FaE M C M

LAU Shu Yan Mete3) g\ﬁﬁj\ (Ri33) C M C M

ZHANG Huijun REE M M M

Notes: BEE -

1. The ESG Committee has two other members, Mr. CHEUNG Tsun Ching and Ms. 1. BE -dek® EGREMERKE  RES
LU Yuhua, who are not Board members. %i&lﬁ)@ﬁ?ﬁi /EZ% FEEEKE -

2. Mr. ZHOU Xijian resigned as a non-executive Director, chairman of the Board, 2. AFREEE T _=F A B REEIERT
a member of the Remuneration Committee and chairman of the Nomination Ef EFEEIF FTHZESRERIEELEER
Committee with effect from 2 June 2023. SERE -

3. Mr. LAU Shu Yan appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee 3. AL ER—ZE_=FNA-AEZ T AFH
and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 2 June 2023. ZEEKNBRIEEZEBGER -

C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees C FAEEZEGNER

M Member of the relevant Board Committees M EFHEEZEEMKE

EHIRKEBEFRAR
TR CCEER
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Board Meetings and Committees Meetings EEgeEREEEER
The attendance of individual Directors at the Board and its BEBHEARARBEZE-_=F+=
committee meetings, and the general meetings of the Company A=+—BLEFERTHESSREZE
held during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the BERMBRRRGNERAINN T :

following table:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEE/EERH
Annual
Executive Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ESG General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee Meeting
Name of Directors ESf? Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting  (the “AGM")
[
RE HER  EEAE
EZe WfZRE EHZAEE HMZRE RAZRE EREsRE (TR=®
L EE S L EE g% B@FAg))

Non-executive Director FHTES

ZHOU Xijian Mo B W) 0N - _ (/1 WoteHiz3) (/1 Noteit3) _ _
Executive Directors #iEs

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BRF 44 00 - - - " 1
LONG Liping R 44 00 - - - - 11

Independent non-executive Directors ~~ BUFH{TES
o

WANG Arthur Minshiang IgR 40 - 3B " n - 1"

LAU Shu Yan "2 N 404 - 3B - - " "

ZHANG Huijun FEE 44 - 3 11 0 - 11

Number of meetings held ERNETRY 4 0 3 I 2 I I

Notes: B3k

1. Mr.ZHOU Xijian resigned as a non-executive Director, chairman of the Board, 1. BAFEREEE T _=F A ZHERBEFNT
a member of the Remuneration Committee and chairman of the Nomination B EF9IF FTHZEGKRERIEEREZE
Committee with effect from 2 June 2023. RS

2. Mr. LAU Shu Yan appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee 2. BIBMALEER T _=FNA_BEZERFTN
and the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 2 June 2023. ZEGNERIREZRZEGER -

3. Mr.ZHOU Xijian was unable to attend the Remuneration Committee meeting 3. BAHEREERELFEFHNEZESGEBZRRELEZE
and Nomination Committee meeting, and Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis EEE VWHEEFLAERALE -

attended in his stead.
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Apart from holding physical meetings, the Board and Board
committees also circulate written resolutions for approval by the
relevant members of the Board and Board committees except
for matters where a substantial shareholder or a Director has a
conflict of interest which the Board has determined to be material
in compliance with Code Provision C.5.7 of the CG Code.

The Board having considered the attendance records and training
records of the Directors and the confirmation provided by each
Director is satisfied that each Director spends sufficient time
performing his responsibilities. Key issues and decisions made
during the meetings were communicated to the Directors in a
timely manner.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman and the chief executive officer ("CEQ") of the Group
are Mr. ZHOU Xijian who has resigned with effect from 2 June
2023, and Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, respectively. The roles of
Chairman and CEO are segregated during the year and up to the
resignation of Mr. Zhou, and their respective responsibilities are
clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman’s principal role is to provide leadership for the
Board on corporate and strategic planning, ensure proper
proceedings of the Board and encourage all Directors to have
active contributions to the Board's affairs.

The CEO, supported by the other executive Director and
management, is to manage and operate the Group’s day-to-day
business, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of the Chairman and
CEO should be separated. Since the resignation of Mr. Zhou as
Chairman with effect from 2 June 2023 and up to the date of
this report, no Chairman has been appointed. The Company will
endeavour to identify and appoint suitable Chairman and will
make announcement as and when appropriate. Pursuant to Code
Provision C.2.7, the Chairman should hold meetings with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors at least annually. However, due to other business
commitment and the resignation of Mr. Zhou in early June 2023,
no meeting of the Chairman with the independent non-executive
directors has been arranged and instead, a meeting between the
CEO and the independent non-executive directors without the
presence of other directors has been arranged.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. ZHOU Xijian, Chairman and non-executive Director until his
resignation with effect from 2 June 2023, was appointed for a
term of three years under his letter of appointment. All Directors
including non-executive Director are subject to retirement
by rotation and eligible for re-election at the AGM at least
once every three years in accordance with the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”). The Company has issued a formal
letter of appointment to Mr. Zhou setting out the key terms of his
appointment.

Independent non-executive Directors

Every independent non-executive Director is appointed for a
specific term of two years under his letter of appointment. All
Directors including independent non-executive Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at
the AGM at least once every three years in accordance with the
Bye-laws. The Company has issued formal letter of appointments
to its independent non-executive Directors setting out key terms
of their appointments.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
contents of such confirmation, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Independent non-executive Director who has served
for more than nine years

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang has served as independent non-
executive Director for more than nine years. To comply with
Code Provision B.2.2 and B.2.3 of the CG Code, Mr. Wang retired
voluntarily and was re-elected as Director at the AGM held by the
Company in accordance to the retirement by rotation provision
on 27 August 2012, 27 August 2015, 30 August 2017, 28 May 2020
and 2 June 2023, respectively.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
Each newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and
that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
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PEEAHRE
There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing ERERN AR NELERNESREHEFRE
briefing and professional development to the Directors at the BNREXERRE  BRAARQGRE-
Company’s expenses whenever necessary.
The Company provides regular updates and presentations on PANYNESI B N ST S DS ST S
changes and developments relating to the Group’s business and EZUEREERRZEYRBERAES
the legislative and regulatory environments in which the Group RHTHEN AW -
conducts its business to the Directors.
The trainings received by the Directors during the year ended 31 EERBEE-_=F+=-A=1+—H1E
December 2023 are summarised as follows: FEEZNSEIISMNT

Attending seminars and/or

reading materials on legal

and regulatory updates,

corporate governance,

director’s duties and

responsibilities

Directors or group’s business
HEWNER HEE

EREEREERTER

TEER EERER

2= EEREEEXNLR
I T
Non-executive Director FBITES
ZHOU Xijian (Chairman) Mote A& (EfE) W=D v
Executive Directors HITESE
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis =EEF

(CEO and President) (TR TR 4B E) v
LONG Liping BEAF v

Independent non-executive Directors BN FEHITESE

WANG Arthur Minshiang T v

LAU Shu Yan 21 A 4

ZHANG Huijun REE v

Note: B3 -

1. Mr.ZHOU Xijian resigned as a non-executive Director, chairman of the Board, 1. @REEB T _=ZF XA B REHEIFRTT
a member of the Remuneration Committee and chairman of the Nomination §$ EECXF FHZESNERREREZE
Committee with effect from 2 June 2023. BEE o

EHIRKEBEFRAR
TR CCEER
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Change of the Emolument of Directors
The following changes were made to the emolument of
Directors:

The director’s salary of Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis has been
increased to HK$540,000 per month with effect from 1 January 2024.

The director’s salary of Mr. LONG Liping has been increased to
HK$33,000 per month with effect from 1 January 2024.

The director’s fee of Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang has been
increased to HK$396,000 per annum with effect from 1 January 2024.

The director’s fee of Mr. LAU Shu Yan has been increased to
HK$300,000 per annum with effect from 1 January 2024.

The director’s fee of Mr. ZHANG Huijun has been increased to
HK$264,000 per annum with effect from 1 January 2024.

Company Secretary

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the board
procedures are followed, advising the Board on all corporate
governance matters, and arranging induction programs including
briefings on the general and specific duties of directors under
legal and regulatory requirements for newly appointed directors.
The company secretary facilitates the induction and professional
development of directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. CHENG Sau Man,
company secretary of the Company, had received no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh her skills and
knowledge.
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(C) BOARD COMMITTEES (C) E=ZEE
The Company currently has five committees, namely, the REBRRBMERNTENER  ARFHE
Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration REAMHZES AT ZES  BXREE
Committee, Nomination Committee and ESG Committee, for o FHNZES RELZESRRR U
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. LEGEZEE
Terms of reference of all the committees are available on the FMEZEENBESBE T SH N IME
Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s website. UE R AR E B A2 E .
Current structure of the Board EZgREES

Board of Directors

Exg

Chief Executive Officer

TTEHAR

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources EEZESARARNERBITARE - I
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are ERENBRT  AJEAGENERSKET
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate HENER  BRBARRZNN -

circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

EHIRKEBEFRAR 27
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee currently consists of all the executive
Directors as follows:

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chairman)
LONG Liping

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and
operation functions of the Group to the Executive Committee
save to the extent that certain powers and authorities are
reserved to the full Board or the other Board Committees.
The Executive Committee is also responsible for reviewing or
recommending to the Board the investment transactions of the
Group and has the power to approve transactions that would not
constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules, connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules or capital market activities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no meeting was
held by the Executive Committee. The attendance of individual
Directors at the committee meetings is set out on page 22 of
this annual report. Apart from meetings, matters relating to
the management and day-to-day operations of the Company
requiring the Executive Committee’s approval were arranged by
means of circulation of written resolutions.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors as follows:

LAU Shu Yan (Chairman)
WANG Arthur Minshiang
ZHANG Huijun

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company’s existing external auditor.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the
Company’s annual reports and accounts, interim reports and
results announcements and to provide advice and comments
thereon to the Directors. The Audit Committee also reviews and
monitors the external auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process. The members meet
regularly with the external auditor and the Company’s senior
management for the review and supervision of the Company’s
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring integrity
of the financial statements of the Company and the Company's
annual reports and accounts and interim reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.

As required by Code Provision D.3.7 of the CG Code, details
of arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and other
matters have been included in the Employee Handbook since 1
April 2012

The Audit Committee met three times during the year ended
31 December 2023. The attendance of individual Directors at
the committee meetings is set out on page 22 of this annual
report. Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring the Audit
Committee’s approval were arranged by means of circulation of
written resolutions.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2023 includes:

(@) reviewed the financial statements and reports and
considered any significant or unusual items raised by
the head of finance division or external auditor before
submission to the Board;

(b) reviewed the interim and annual results of the Group,
discussed and approved the relevant financial reports,
reviewed the Group’s internal control system;

(c) approved the risk assessment report and review the 2023
Internal Audit Plan;

(d) reviewed the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their
fees, terms of engagement and independence, and made
recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of external auditor proposed by management;
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(e) reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, financial reporting system, internal
control system, risk management system and associated
procedures; and

(f)  reviewed and recommended the Board to approve the
revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee, if
required.

Private session between the Committee members and the
external auditor without the presence of the management had
also been arranged.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
members, the majority of which are independent non-executive
Directors, as follows:

WANG Arthur Minshiang (Chairman)

ZHANG Huijun

LAU Shu Yan (appointed on 2 June 2023)

ZHOU Xijian (resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the Company'’s
policy and structure for all the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
is also responsible for establishing formal and transparent
procedures for developing remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration will
be determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and conditions.
The Remuneration Committee shall consult the chairman and/
or the CEO of the Company about their recommendations on
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.
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The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(i) out of the two
models suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a
whole is responsible for determining the remuneration of non-
executive Directors whereas the Remuneration Committee has
the authority to approve the remuneration of the individual
executive Directors and senior management of the Company and
its subsidiaries as well as share options related matters.

The Company amended the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee, which took effect from 21 December
2022, in order to conform to the Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code which took effect on 1 January 2023.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
31 December 2023. The attendance of individual Directors at the
committee meetings is set out on page 22 of this annual report.
Apart from the said meeting, matters requiring the Remuneration
Committee’s approval were arranged by means of circulation of
written resolutions.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2023 includes:

(@) reviewed and determined the policy for the remuneration
of the executive Directors and senior management;

(b) assessed the performance and approved the discretionary
bonus of executive Director; and

(c) reviewed and recommended the Board to approve the
revised terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
if required.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
the majority of which are independent non-executive Directors, as
follows:

LAU Shu Yan (Chairman)
(appointed on 2 June 2023)
WANG Arthur Minshiang
ZHANG Huijun
ZHOU Xijian (Chairman)
(resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

(i) review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(i) identify individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

(iii) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to the requirements of the Listing
Rules;

(iv)  make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive; and

(v) ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, and in that regard,
the Nomination Committee should assist the Board to
formulate and review a policy concerning diversity of Board
members.

The Nomination Committee met twice during the year ended
31 December 2023. The attendance of individual Directors at the
committee meetings is set out on page 22 of this annual report.
Apart from the said meeting, matters requiring the Nomination
Committee’s approval were arranged by means of circulation of
written resolutions.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2023 includes:

(a) reviewed the Directors who were due to retire pursuant to
the Bye-laws and the CG Code and recommended that they
be subject to retirement and re-election at the 2023 AGM;

(b) reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;
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(c) assessed the independence of each independent non-
executive Directors;

(d) reviewed and recommended the Board to approve the
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, if
required; and

(e) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the Director
Nomination Policy.

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
The ESG Committee currently comprises four members, of
which one is an executive Director, one is an independent non-
executive Director and two employees, as follows:

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Shu Yan

Mr. CHEUNG Tsun Ching

Ms. LU Yuhua

The main duties of the ESG Committee include the following:

() formulating and reviewing the implementation of the
environmental, social and governance policy, strategies and
structure;

(i) assessing and managing issues of environmental, social
and governance risks and evaluating and determining
opportunities in the context of its business strategy; and

(i) reviewing the environmental, social and governance
report and making recommendations to the Board, so as
to promote the development and implementation of the
environmental, social and governance works of the Group.

The work performed by the ESG Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2023 includes:

(@) reviewed the terms of reference and their effectiveness in
discharging its duties and recommended to the Board if
revision is required; and

(b) monitored and reviewed current and rising environmental,
social and governance trends and issues in understanding
emerging environmental, social and governance matters
that affect the Group's operations.
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(D) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (D) R EE &R A e

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. Such risks would include among others,
material risk relating to ESG. The Board is also committed to and is
responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Group established the risk management and internal control
systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses
caused by judgment in decision making process, human error,
fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable CG Code to the
Listing Rules, the Board has retained an external independent
professional firm as the outsourced internal auditor with a view
to facilitating adequacy of resources and quality of review to
satisfy the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Stock
Exchange and to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had
maintained an internal audit charter which defines the scope
and the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function
and its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual
risk assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk
based methodology audit approach, an internal audit plan was
devised which prioritised the risks identified into annual audit
projects. The annual review was performed according to the
internal audit plan with a view to assisting the Board and the
Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. The review also
covered the compliance of CG Code to the Listing Rules, material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
at entity and operational levels. The Group has taken further steps
to enhance its risk management and internal control systems
according to some weaknesses identified during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control and strengthen the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control
systems.
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(E)

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group. The Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information
provide a guide to the Company’s directors, senior management,
officers and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the work performed by
the external auditor, the internal auditor, and reviews performed
by the management, respective Board Committees and the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the view that
the Group has maintained effective and adequate internal audit,
risk management and internal control system during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 and confirmed that the consolidated financial
statements contained herein give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of the consolidated financial performance and the
consolidated cash flow of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023. In preparing the accounts for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Directors, with the assistance of the
management, selected the suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that
are prudent, and prepared the accounts on the going concern
basis. Such acknowledgement should be read in conjunction
with, but be distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s
Report of the external auditor of the Company, RSM Hong Kong
("RSM"), in relation to their reporting responsibilities as set out in
their auditor's report on pages 65 to 70 of this annual report.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company's and the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(E)

AL A S/

PEERRE

AEBEREYNEREZE 2T ARE R
RERBEHEEZEF LB R TERERSE
BAZAREE - ABHEERBERRRAR
AEE SAEEE SABEREHES
RIS NEERTEN  EFHEENE
KEIEER -

REBEASERY RER AR R EIE LA
RN ﬁl\*BT?%(EﬂiE‘ﬂiW*BV%(EWLHE’J
TEREEE FREZZESMESES
THER BERZZBEERESE wf-%EAEki
fyf_i-i— A=1+—BLLFE X%H

Tﬂﬁxﬁl&ﬁ MAEEZ  BREER
*Bﬁ*h/%

BEMREZ
EEEARNASERBE T _=F+=

A=+—BLFEZWBHRERIEET I
BREPNBEAVERREELATER
MAEBR _T_=F+_-_A= + EZ
BAMBHRAURAEBREBE =

F4= H—+—E¢¢F£Z%méﬂﬂ%i€ﬁ
e RERnEe EREHZE-_ZT_=F
+ZA=+—BULEEZERER EBEE
BEZHYH NEARKAEE 2 EER
WEMER - (EHEEHE KA A RIR
SFECE A EREIRE o I EEAEAQA
INEERZEENERE SR EGM (BB E])
RN ZHAREE (WA BEERRET
HIEENANFERFsE708) BAER - B
W FE—OFRIE -

EFUTAEEEAY REATAREE
ZEFARRAES AR ARAEELT
R EEEELEARN Al EFCR
BREEEERLBARHRE -

EHIRKEBEFRAR
TR CCEER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TERERRS

(F)

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by RSM. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, fees charged by RSM for audit
services amounted to approximately US$211,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,640,000).

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication
policy and posted it on the website of the Company setting

out the principles of the Company in relation to shareholders’

communications, with the objective of ensuring that Shareholders
are informed of balanced and understandable information about
the Company (including the Group's strategies, businesses,
major developments and financial performance) in a factual
and timely manner and to enable them to exercise their rights
as Shareholders in an informed manner. The Company aims to
be open and transparent with its Shareholders and encourages
Shareholders” active participation at the Company’s general
meetings.

Information would be communicated to the Shareholders
mainly through the Company’s corporate communications (such
as interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars),
AGMs and other general meetings, as well as disclosure on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Interim
reports, annual reports and circulars are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are also sent to the
Shareholders upon request in a timely manner. The Company’s
and the Stock Exchange’s websites provides Shareholders with
the corporate information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company as
set out in “Shareholder Information” section to this annual report,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address, in
order to enable them to make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. They can also send their enquiries to
the Board through these means. In addition, Shareholders can
contact Tricor Standard Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

(F)

ARIRBE-E-_=F+-A=+—H8H1t
FEZEAVERRCHEREZER - RE
E-EB-_=F+-A=+—BILFEE &
EREZRFWENE B L A211,000%E 7T (56
LR #91,64000087T) ©

BERRZER
EZgCHERRBEABRRELBHN AR
AWM ETMPAARRABERRERZR
A UHRERRRAER RNEEMZE K S
RERANARRR]ZER (BFEANEE K
X TERREMBRR)  AEHEE
HMIEERTITHREEER/BIRZERN - KAF]
EHREERRRTOMMERIBE A5
BRREGR2ERRA ZRRERE -

ARBEEEBLFBER (T HRFER
T RAMARBER)  BRRAEFASLEM
BRRGURERRBRBRAHM EZ
BREARREEEN - PHRE  FERS
SMOBH AR AR R MR BB - e
RERERFETRR - A7 MR8
W RBRCRREH AR ER

ARRRARRERAR B ZFABE TN (F
MRARFRRER ) - PINARE
i BEMA REFIA - AERFRLEE
MEBEARRZER - WENAIBBZETT
AAEFSHLEN - UL BERMA I
ERERRERAIEIRREZER - ATBA
ARBZEBBRMBPELD REERE
BRAT -



The Company’'s AGM allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with Shareholders. The Company ensures that
Shareholders' views are communicated to the Board. All Directors
attended the 2023 AGM in person or by electronic means to
ensure that an effective communication was carried out with
the shareholders of the Company. The chairman of the AGM
proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered.
AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that
the Company follows good corporate governance practices.
The notice of AGM is distributed to all Shareholders at least 21
clear days prior to the AGM and the accompanying circular also
sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant
information as required under the Listing Rules. Separate
resolution is proposed for each issue to be considered at the
meeting. Each proposed resolution in general meeting will be
put to vote by way of a poll. The procedures for conducting a
poll are explained at the meeting prior to the polls being taken.
Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on the day
of the AGM.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple
channels to communicate their views as mentioned above as
well as the steps taken by the Board to solicit and understand the
views of Shareholders and stakeholders during the year ended
31 December 2023 including but not limited to open discussion
with the Shareholders during the AGM, the Board’s review of
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy was found to be sound and adequate.

Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
is in place setting out the principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the Shareholders.

The Board shall take into account the following factors when
considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and can
be revised by the Board from time to time.
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(G) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (G) RER2#EF

Procedures to convene a general meeting and put
forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting
(the "SGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition, including making proposals
or moving a resolution at the SGM. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act’).

Shareholders may by written requisition request, deposit at
the registered office of the Company, inclusion of a resolution
relating to matters in a general meeting by following the
requirements and procedures as set out in Sections 79 and 80 of
the Companies Act.

The above request can be sent to the Company at its head office
and principal place of business as set out in the “Corporate
Information” section of this annual report for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Subject to the provisions of the above-mentioned sections
of the Companies Act, on the written requisition of members
representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights or 100 members, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, the Company shall
give Shareholders notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting and a
relevant statement.

Shareholders may also propose a person for election as director,
the procedures for which are available on the Company’s website.
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(H)

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders can send their enquiries about shareholdings, share
transfer, registration and payment of dividend to Tricor Standard
Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company. Other Shareholders'enquiries can be directed to
the head office and principal place of business of the Company
as set out in the "Corporate Information” section of this annual
report for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Details of the Shareholders’ rights and communication policy are
also available on the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change
in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “"Directors”) of Daohe Global
Group Limited (the “Company”) present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2023 by business and geographical segments as well as
information about major customers is set out in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set

out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
71 and 72.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 160 and 161.

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend was declared and paid to shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group'’s business and likely future development,
a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section on
pages 6 to 10 of this annual report.

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include but
are not limited to (i) foreign currency risk as the Group has certain
investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk; (ii) credit risk that may arise from
possible default of the Group's business counter parties; and (jii) Loovee
Group (as defined below) are under VIE contractual arrangement as
disclosed under section headed “"Contractual Arrangements” to this
annual report.

The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and liabilities held in
currencies other than the United States dollar and Hong Kong dollar
to ensure that net exposure is kept at an acceptable level and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedure. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to better protect the environment by
encouraging its employees to reduce consumption of electricity
and paper, reduce waste, and use environmental friendly products
whenever possible. The Group is subject to various environmental
laws and regulations set by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
national, provincial and municipal governments which include
regulations on discharge of wastes and air pollution. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has complied with such laws
and regulations that have significant impact to the Group. Details
of the relevant policies are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report to be published by the Company, which
will be available for inspection at the websites of the Company
(www.daoheglobal.com.hk) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (www.hkexnews.hk).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FESREE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Compliance

We have in place compliance procedures to ensure adherence to
the relevant laws and regulations including but not limited to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”), the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance ("SFO"), Regulation of the People’s Republic of
China on Telecommunication* {4 2£ A & #£ 1 B & 1= (& 1) and
Administrative Measures for Internet Information Services* { B B 48 (5
B R %% & 12 ¥ 7K) that are relevant to the Group. Laws in other
jurisdictions may also apply to our non-Hong Kong operations in Hong
Kong, the PRC and elsewhere.

The Board is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the Group's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, with the support and assistance of the company
secretarial department. The Group has also engaged external counsels
to provide advice regarding the rules and laws on the business
transactions when required.

As far as the Company is aware, save as already disclosed in the
Company’s announcements or this annual report, it has complied with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

Key relationships with stakeholders

Employees

The Group's remuneration policy and staff development scheme are
set out on page 9 of this annual report.

The Group implemented comprehensive mechanisms to ensure
that high standard of ethical business practices are adopted when
our employees are dealing with suppliers and service providers. Our
Employee Handbook states our policies in avoiding conflict of interest
and the whistle-blowing channels.

We are an equal opportunity employer. We embrace anti-discrimination
practices that protect potential and existing employees from being
disadvantaged or excluded on the basis of gender, age, family status,
sexual orientation, disability, race or religion.

We strictly comply with local laws and regulations concerning health
and safety at work.

For identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Key relationships with stakeholders (continued)
Customers

(0

(if)

Trading and supply chain management services

Linmark Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Linmark
Group’) are engaged in trading and supply chain management
services. As a global supply chain management solutions provider
and business partner, the Linmark Group offers diverse and
comprehensive services to a wide range of customers including
some of the world’s leading retailers, well known brands,
wholesalers, mail order houses and department stores in North
America, Europe, Australia and South Africa. The Group continues
to strengthen ties with the customers and strives to meet their
growing demand on price and service level by reaching out for
new supply base and expanding into new product categories.
To improve the customer service level, the Group has set a
claim alert system to record and track the status of claims and
complaints received from customers.

Operation of online social platforms

Loovee Holdings Inc. (‘Loovee”) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Loovee
Group”) are principally engaged in gamified social and online
entertainment business, thereby providing various social and
entertainment services to a number of individual users in the
PRC. In future, we shall continue to enhance the user experiences,
customer service capability and corresponding customer service
for products, so as to meet the demand of our partners and
customers. Meanwhile, we have also set up a user suggestion
system, so that users can make suggestions and comments on
our products at any time.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Key relationships with stakeholders (continued)

Suppliers

() Trading and supply chain management services
Linmark Group operates an international sourcing network with a
focus on emerging markets. Supplier management is the core of
our supply chain business, all the suppliers have been evaluated
by the Group based on their expertise, experience, production
capabilities and other production factors, and are subject to
constant performance review and evaluation by the Group
to improve their quality and efficiency. In addition, the Group
has developed an extensive Corporate Social Responsibility
Compliance Manual and Vendor Code of Conduct, and has a
complete quality assurance procedure in place for products
produced by suppliers before shipping to customers.

(i) Operation of online social platforms

Loovee Group has established cooperation relationship with
a number of partners in the PRC, including online application
markets (e.q. BEFTLFE FI & (Tencent Appstore), 2 & FE 2 h
% (Huawei AppGallery)), Internet Data Centre services companies,
etc. We also regularly evaluate and review the capabilities of and
relationships with our partners to increase the number of users or
sales volume.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 16 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and Note 36 to the financial statements
respectively.

The distributable reserves of the Company consisted of the aggregate
of contributed surplus and accumulated losses. The Company had no
reserve available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).
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DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office in the Company during the year ended

31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report are:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ZHOU Xijian (resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis

LONG Liping

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WANG Arthur Minshiang

LAU Shu Yan
ZHANG Huijun

All independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their
independence to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
Company considers them to be independent in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. ZHOU Xijian (“Mr. Zhou") resigned as a non-executive Director and
chairman of the Board from 2 June 2023. Following his resignation,
Mr. Zhou ceased as chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect
from 2 June 2023 as announced in the Company's announcement
dated 2 June 2023. Mr. Zhou resigned in order to devote sufficient time
to manage his own business and affairs. Mr. Zhou has confirmed to
the Board that he has no disagreement with the Board and there is no
other matter relating to his resignation that needs to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders.

Mr. LONG Liping and Mr. ZHANG Huijun, in accordance with Bye-laws
84(1) and 84(2) of the Bye-laws, will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Details of the connected transaction and significant related party
transactions are disclosed in this annual report and in Note 32 to the
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to which a director of the Company or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2023 or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of the duties in his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has maintained
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had, or was deemed to have, any
interests in the long or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which any such Directors or chief executives of the Company is taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or was recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of the SFO; or was required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange or otherwise known
by the Directors.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company
and its associated corporations
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Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

55 ERNEE

Approximate
percentage in
the issued share

Number of capital
Ordinary of the Company
Shares held (Note 1)
fEA 2]

B BITRA

BFEEER BMABDE
RHBE (M¥zE1)

Long positions in the shares of the Company

RAEARRDZHR

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis
BEF

Beneficial owner

EamlEBEA

WANG Arthur Minshiang
T

Beneficial owner

EmfEAA

3,750,000 0.25%

390,000 0.03%

Note:

Q) Calculated on the basis of 1,509,592,701 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

M EBRZZE-=F+-A=+—B 2B 31T 1,509592,701
SRR
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL FERFENEATROREBRO T2
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING #ERZRXE

SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed below, the Directors were B FXFIRBEEN R_ZE_=F+_-_A=+—

not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executive B » EE W N HEB B EM AT (KR FEFHTT
of the Company) who had any interest or short position in the Shares  BX#2 £ M) ZERR D KRB D P > A R IEE
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company % K& BiE &A1 336 15 E AR R FIZAF BN ERL
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as I FTaEs%  RIBZEHF LB EIEFIEXVIBE2RE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant 39 SFEY AR A A A1 BT AR SAR
to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares of the Company REQXBRMBZHFR

Approximate
percentage in
the issued share
capital of the

Name of Number of Company

substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary Shares held (Note 3)

A2

B BITRA

FEEER BMAOBDE

TERRES BB 55 RmtE R5 & B (B&E3)
| e I

Sino Remittance Holding Limited ~ Beneficial owner (Note 1) 512,250,000 33.93%

("Sino Remittance”)

FEZERARAR(EE]) BEamEAACED

Oceanic Force Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 92,042,892 6.10%
("Oceanic Force")

BEamEA A 1)

Daohe Global Investment Interest of controlled corporations (Note 1) 664,121,427 43.99%
Holding Limited
(‘Daohe Global Investment’)

BHURFREERERLRF  XEthEE s (1)

(MBMRRKRE )
ZHOU Xijian Interest of controlled corporations (Note 1) 664,121,427 43.99%
A7 REHEE 2w ()
Legian Investment Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 178,875,000 11.85%
EmEA A (H2)
ZHOU Congwei Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 178,875,000 11.85%
JE R REHEE 2 s (PEE2)
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

Q)] Of these shares of the Company (the “Share”), (i) Sino Remittance owned
512,250,000 Shares, (ii) Fame City Developments Limited (“Fame City") owned
59,690,535 Shares, (iii) Oceanic Force owned 92,042,892 Shares and (iv) Winning Port
International Limited (“Winning Port”) owned 138,000 Shares. Sino Remittance,
Fame City, Oceanic Force and Winning Port are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Daohe
Global Investment. As such, Daohe Global Investment was deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company in which Sino Remittance, Fame City, Oceanic Force
and Winning Port were interested by virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Daohe Global Investment is in turn held by Mr. ZHOU Xijian (a former non-executive
Director of the Company who has resigned as Director with effect from 2 June 2023)
and Mr. ZHANG Qj, as to 80% and 20% respectively. As such, Mr. ZHOU Xijian was
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Sino Remittance,
Fame City, Oceanic Force and Winning Port were interested by virtue of the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

(2) Mr. ZHOU Congwei was deemed interested in the Shares held by Legian Investment
Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. ZHOU Congwei, by virtue of the provisions
of Part XV of the SFO.

(3) Calculated on the basis of 1,509,592,701 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company (including their spouses and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
below, no equity-linked agreements that have, will or may result in
the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that have, will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023 or subsisted as at 31 December 2023.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“2021 Share Option Scheme’) was adopted
by the Company pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company on 1 June 2021. The 2021
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years up to
2031. Under the 2021 Share Option Scheme, the Board or a committee
thereof may grant options (the “Share Options”) to eligible persons
to subscribe for Shares at a price per share of at least the higher of
(i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of the relevant
option; and (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer, provided that
the exercise price shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share. Written acceptance is required on acceptance of the grant
of options. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme to be adopted by the Company
from time to time must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The Company has
no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the Share
Options in cash.

Details of the 2021 Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose
The primary purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is
to provide incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

2. Eligible persons
The eligible persons under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
include:

() any Director or proposed Director (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive
Director), employee or proposed employee (whether full
time or part time) of, or any individual for the time being
seconded to work for, any member of the Group or any
controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the
Company; or

Daohe Global Group Limited
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SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME BRERBERESTE @

(continued)

2. Eligible persons (continued) 2. BERALTE

(i) any business partner or consultant that provides research,
development or other technological support or any
advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to, or
any supplier of goods or services to, or any customer of,
any member of the Group or any controlling shareholder of
the Company or any company controlled by a controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Total number of shares available for issue

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date
of approval of the 2021 Share Option Scheme (i.e. 1,509,592,701
shares). As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total
number of shares available for issue under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme is 150,959,270, representing approximately 10% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this annual
report.

Subject to the approval by the Shareholders, the aggregate
number of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of
the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
to any eligible persons (including those cancelled, exercised and
outstanding options), in any 12-month period up to the date of
the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in
issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must be
separately approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person
(continued)

Options granted to the independent non-executive Directors
or substantial Shareholders of the Company or any of their
respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares
in issue and with an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Company’s Share at the date of grant, in excess of HKS5
million resulting in the total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options already granted and to be
granted to such person under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant of such option must
be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Time of exercise of options

Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the date as
the Board may determine and ending on such date as the Board
may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant (which is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the grant
of the option is accepted).

Minimum holding period of the option before it can
be exercised

The 2021 Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
holding period but the Board has the authority to determine the
minimum period for which a share option in respect of some or
all of the shares forming the subject of the share options must be
held before it can be exercised.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 30
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. No
consideration is required to be paid by the grantee of an option
to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option.

Exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board, and will not be
less than the higher of the closing price of the Shares on the date
of offer of grant and the average closing price of the Shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of
grant.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(continued)

9. Remaining life of the 2021 Share Option Scheme
Subject to the earlier termination of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules governing the 2021 Share
Option Scheme, the 2021 Share Option Scheme will expire on
1 June 2031 and the remaining life of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme is approximately 7 years.

No share options were granted, outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or
exercised at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As provided under the transitional arrangements under the amended
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company could continue to make
grants to participants eligible under the amended Chapter 17 under
the existing Share Option Scheme until refreshment or expiry of the
existing scheme mandate, upon which the Company will be required
to amend the terms of the scheme to comply with the amended
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and seek shareholders’ approval for a
new scheme mandate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 32 to the
financial statements.

For those related party transactions that constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions (as the case may be)
under the Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt from reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as above mentioned, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction undertaken by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Loovee through Loovee Science and Technology Development Co,,
Ltd* GRYITHZE MR £ 7 B R 2 A) (the "OPCO") and its
subsidiaries (the “OPCO Group”), is principally engaged in the
development and operation of online social platforms. The OPCO is a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC and is
owned as to 80% by Mr. LI Feng* (Z=$£) and 20% by Mr. LIAO Guoxin*
(EZBUFT), equity owners of the OPCO nominated by the Company (the

“VIE Equity Owners").
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
On 24 April 2017, Loovee Science and Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,

Ltd* (ZEMERMHE ORI B R A 7)), a company established under the
laws of the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Loovee (the
"WFOE"), the OPCO and the VIE Equity Owners entered into certain
structured contracts namely, the Exclusive Technology Consulting and
Services Agreement, the Business Operation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, the
Powers of Attorney, the Commitment Letters and the Spousal Consent
Letters (collectively, the “VIE Contracts’) to enable the financial results,
the entire economic benefits and the risks of the business of the OPCO
Group to flow onto the WFOE and to enable the WFOE to gain control
over the OPCO Group (the “Contractual Arrangements”).

Financial contribution of the OPCO Group to the Group
The aggregate revenues of the OPCO Group that were attributable
to the Group through VIE Contracts amounted to approximately
US$26,348,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately US$24,160,000). As at 31 December 2023, the net assets
attributable to the OPCO Group were approximately US$9,381,000
(2022: approximately US$8,589,000).

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

According to the then applicable Guidance Catalogue of Industries for
Foreign Investment (2015 Edition) ({ANFE 1% & E 2 58 B $%(2015
FhRR))) when the Contractual Arrangement was entered into, value-
added telecommunications service business is restricted for foreign
investors and foreign ownership in such business (except e-commerce)
cannot exceed 50%, and in particular, internet cultural business
(except for music) is prohibited for foreign investors. According to
the prevailing Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2021 Edition) (the “Negative List"), the
aforementioned restrictions and prohibitions remain unchanged.

The OPCO Group is principally engaged in the development and
operation of online social platforms which is considered to be engaged
in the provision of value-added telecommunications services and
the internet cultural business, a restricted and prohibited business
respectively for foreign investors pursuant to the Negative List. As the
Group does not possess the required qualifications, Loovee cannot
directly or indirectly hold the equity interest in the OPCO as a foreign
investor.

In order to comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations
including the Negative List, the WFOE, the OPCO and the VIE Equity
Owners entered into the VIE Contracts to enable the financial results,
the entire economic benefits and the risks of the business of the OPCO
Group to flow onto the WFOE and to enable the WFOE to gain control
over the OPCO Group.

For identification purpose only
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Contracts

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Contracts, which
were in place since 1 June 2017:

1. The Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services Agreement
was entered into between the WFOE and the OPCO for an initial
term of 10 years from the date of execution (which may be
extended at the sole discretion of the WFOE), pursuant to which
the WFOE has the exclusive rights to provide the OPCO with
consulting services at a service fee that is equal to 100% of the
net profit of the OPCO after deducting taxes, costs and expenses
incurred during the course of business.

2. The Business Operation Agreement was entered into between
the WFOE, the OPCO and VIE Equity Owners for an initial term
of 10 years from the date of execution (which may be extended
at the sole discretion of the WFOE) pursuant to which the VIE
Equity Owners agreed that, without the prior written consent
from the WFOE, the OPCO would not enter into any transaction
or perform any act that could materially affect its assets,
businesses, personnels, undertakings, rights or operations. The
VIE Equity Owners also agreed (i) to vote for or appoint nominees
designated by the WFOE to serve as the directors, chairman,
general managers, financial controllers and other senior managers
of the OPCO; (ii) to accept and implement proposals set forth
by the WFOE regarding employment, day-to-day business
operations and financial management; and (iii) to unconditionally
transfer any dividend or other interest declared by the OPCO to
the WFOE.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FESREE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Summary of the major terms of the VIE Contracts (continued)

3.

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by
the WFOE, the OPCO and the VIE Equity Owners which shall
remain effective until all the equity interests in the OPCO held
by the VIE Equity Owners are transferred or assigned to the
WEFOE or its designated party. Pursuant to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement, the VIE Equity Owners unconditionally and
irrevocably granted the WFOE an irrevocable and exclusive option
to purchase or designate one or more persons to purchase, to the
extent permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, all
or part of their equity interests in the OPCO at the total purchase
price of RMB10,000 for 100% of the equity interests, or 1% of the
evaluation price or the minimum price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws (if evaluation is required).

The OPCO also granted the WFOE an irrevocable and exclusive
option to purchase or designate another party to purchase, to the
extent permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
any or all of the assets owned by the OPCO (including its equity
interest in Leyi Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (& JI| T 44 &
BIEA R A 7)) at the lower of (i) the book value; and (i) the
minimum price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws.

The Equity Interest Pledge Agreement was entered into by the
WEFOE (as pledgee) and the VIE Equity Owners (as pledgers)
which was effective on the date when the pledge of the equity
interests in the OPCO was registered on the register of members
of the OPCO and shall remain binding until the VIE Equity
Owners discharge all their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or termination of the VIE Contracts (other than the
Equity Interest Pledge Agreement).

Pursuant to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, the VIE Equity
Owners agreed to pledge all of their equity interests in the
OPCO (including any equity interest subsequently acquired or
subscribed) to the WFOE to guarantee the performance by the
OPCO and the VIE Equity Owners of their respective obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements.

* For identification purpose only
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Contracts (continued)
The Powers of Attorney were entered into by the VIE Equity
Owners for an initial term of 10 years from the date of execution
(which may be extended at the discretion of WFOE). Pursuant to
the Powers of Attorney, each of the VIE Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed the WFOE as their attorney-in-fact to act for all matters
pertaining to the OPCO and to exercise all of their rights as
shareholders of the OPCO.

5.

The Commitment Letters were entered into by the VIE Equity
Owners pursuant to which the VIE Equity Owners irrevocably
undertook that:

(i)

(i)

(iff)

for whatever reason the equity interests in the OPCO are
transferred or inherited to other person(s) (including but
not limited to bankruptcy, divorce or death of the VIE
Equity Owners), such transferee(s) or successor(s) shall be
legally bound by the VIE Contracts (as appropriate) and
such transfer or inheritance or other relevant arrangement
shall not contravene the VIE Contracts unless with the prior
written consent from the WFOE;

all the equity interests held in the OPCO shall not form part
of their matrimonial property and all decisions made by
them in the OPCO shall not be affected by their spouses;

they shall not, whether directly or indirectly through any
other person or entity, participate in, carry out, acquire or
hold any interest in any business which is or may be in
competition with the OPCO or its related companies, and
shall not do anything which gives rise to any conflict of
interest between them and the WFOE;

they shall transfer any assets of the OPCO obtained as
a result of the liquidation of the OPCO to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permitted by the
applicable laws; and

they shall unconditionally return any proceeds received as a
result of the exercise of the option under the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement to the WFOE or its designated party.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Contracts (continued)

7. The Spousal Consent Letters were entered into by the spouses
of the VIE Equity Owners (the spouse of each of the VIE Equity
Owners executed a Spousal Consent Letter separately). The
spouse of each of the VIE Equity Owners irrevocably agreed that:

(i) all the equity interests held by the VIE Equity Owners in
the OPCO and all the benefits generated from these equity
interests do not form part of their matrimonial property;

(i) all the benefits generated from the equity interests in the
OPCO belong to the VIE Equity Owners and can be dealt
with in any way by the VIE Equity Owners without the
consent of their spouses;

(i) the VIE Equity Owners may execute any supplemental
document to the relevant VIE Contracts without the
signature, confirmation, consent and approval from their
spouses; and

(iv) they shall be bound by the relevant VIE Contracts in the
event that they obtain any equity interest in the OPCO held
by the VIE Equity Owners for any reason.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the circular of
the Company dated 28 April 2017.

- The PRC government may determine that the VIE Contracts do
not comply with applicable regulations

- The VIE Contracts may not be as effective as direct ownership in
providing control over the OPCO

- The VIE Equity Owners may potentially have conflicts of interest
with the Group
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and

actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

(continued)

- Certain provisions in the VIE Contracts may not be enforceable
under the PRC laws

- The Contractual Arrangements under the VIE Contracts may be
subject to the scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional
tax may be imposed

- The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the VIE Contracts and the transactions contemplated
thereunder

- WFOE's ability to acquire the equity interests in the OPCO may be
subject to various limitations and substantial costs

- Economic risks the WFOE bears as the primary beneficiary of the
OPCO, financial support to the OPCO and potential exposure of
Loovee to losses

- Uncertainty to the Group when the foreign ownership restriction
in value-added telecommunications services is relaxed

In order to mitigate the risks of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Company had adopted a series of internal control measures including,
among others, appointing an executive director or senior management
to the board of the OPCO (the “Responsible Director’) to enforce all
management controls of the OPCO. As at the date of this annual report,
Mr. LI Feng* (Z2$£) has been appointed as the Responsible Director
and he had conducted regular site visits to the OPCO and conducted
interviews with the relevant senior management of the OPCO every six
months and submitted the interview notes to the designated Director
of the Board.

The Responsible Director will also consult the Company’s PRC legal
adviser (the “PRC Legal Adviser’) from time to time to check if there
are any legal developments in the PRC affecting the arrangement
contemplated under the VIE Contracts, and immediately report to the
designated Director of the Board thereafter so as to allow the Board to
determine if any modification or amendment is required to be made.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Requirements related to Contractual Arrangements
(other than relevant foreign ownership restrictions)

1.

As advised by the PRC Legal Adviser, the VIE Contracts do not
violate mandatory provisions of laws and regulations of validity
nature, including those applicable to the business of the WFOE
and the OPCO, and the articles of association of the WFOE and
the OPCO. The VIE Contracts are legally binding on each relevant
party to the VIE Contracts and shall not be deemed as “concealing
illegal intentions with a lawful form” and void under the PRC
contract law. The GAAP’s Notice 13 prohibits foreign investors
from using any agreements or contractual agreements to gain
control of or operate an online game business in the PRC. Taking
into account that details of the implementation and the scope
for execution of the GAAP’s Notice 13 have not yet been issued
by the relevant authorities and based on confirmations by the
relevant authorities in the interviews with the same, the PRC
Legal Adviser is of the view that the VIE Contracts would not
constitute a violation of the GAAP’s Notice 13. The WFOE had
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in operating its business through the OPCO
under the VIE Contracts.

The VIE Contracts are governed by and will be construed in
accordance with the PRC laws and contain a provision for
resolving disputes by arbitration at South China International
Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission* (2 5 B B 4% 7%
Z 5 Z 8€)in accordance with its arbitration rules. The
VIE Contracts provide that the arbitration tribunal may award
remedies over the equity interests or assets of the OPCO,
injunctive relief (e.g. for the conduct of business or to compel the
transfer of assets) or order the winding up of the OPCO. The VIE
Contracts also include a clause in relation to dispute resolution
among the parties where, when awaiting the formation of the
arbitration tribunal or otherwise under appropriate conditions,
the parties thereto may seek temporary injunctive relief or other
temporary remedies from the courts in Hong Kong, Bermuda, the
PRC and the locations where the principal assets of the Company
or the OPCO are located. However, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the
view that pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal may
have no power to grant the aforementioned remedies or
injunctive relief or to order the winding up of the OPCO. In
addition, even though the VIE Contracts provide that overseas
courts (e.g. courts in Hong Kong and Bermuda) shall have the
power to grant certain relief or remedies, such relief or remedies
may not be recognised or enforced under the PRC laws.

* For identification purpose only

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

—E k&3¢ )
ERENLHZRE (EBINEFERERE
D)

1.

FEEEBRERT VEAHNTEER AR
ORI BB M 2 & HI MR E - B EWFOE
K OPCOETSFTiE A% + LA X WFOE & OPCO
JHBSIRMEAl - VEADYVIEA N ZE A
BRI A EERRLR N B TER AT
GEFEABEIEELZEN] RRPEEREET
o B ERAE B3R BANZE LIINEIE
BEEBBEMBREIA R RN BTG
KEREPERER AR EBEER&REH
WITHEHREE R3RBMNZEHME X
WITEHE  MEZEEINE@EE REEARARE
FRER 2R PEVEREMRAVE
BT GEAERTTEHRAE 135085 -
WFOER IR VIER A B OPCOLL & £ 1K I
EEEEREERE L TR EEE -

VERHIXPBDERRERBRERE X
HARBHRERANEDBEEREEE ST
HZBEUMETABRFZEZIE - VE
BRIRE - REVER BLOPCOZ IR B E
MRS I L ER) (DI R 2 X T
HBFNEEEE) KRSOPCOBRE - VIER
TN IRSRRRT 07 2 R F &% - Bt
EHRMEEKRLLEBEERBRT - 1R
WAARAELS ARE FERARAN
OPCOXBEEMAEM AR ZSRKBRES
7 B B HL At B B U O o AT - AR AR
BRRS RIEPBUARE - MEER EEE
B b g e s < BB AR < OPCO
B o b SN - BMEVIES QR E B INEET (B
WEERBREER) BERRLETHED
SRR - X T B S R R 4 AR
B BUAR T LARR A FINTT o

o EHEE



CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The Subject Persons Undertaking

Each of Mr. ZHOU Xijian, Mr. ZHANG Qi and Mr. ZHOU Congwei
(collectively, the “Subject Persons”) has undertaken to the Company
that (the “Subject Persons Undertaking’), after completion:

(i) he shall maintain his PRC nationality so as to be qualified as a “PRC
investor”; and

(i) he shall only dispose of any of his interest in the Shares, if:

(@) after such disposal, the Company shall still be considered as
“controlled”by “PRC investors”;

(b) all the other Subject Persons have given their written
consent to such disposal; and

(c) where the disposal would result in the Subject Persons
together holding not more than 50% voting rights in the
Company, the transferee in such a disposal must:

(1) bea"PRCinvestor”;and

(2)  provide the same undertaking to the Company as the
Subject Persons did.

Prior to such disposal, the Subject Persons must demonstrate to
the satisfaction of the Company and the Stock Exchange that the
Company shall remain “controlled” by “PRC investors” after such
disposal.

The aforesaid undertakings were made to the Company solely for
the purpose of complying with the relevant foreign investment
laws and related laws applicable to the Group from time to time in
connection with domestic investment and shall remain effective until
compliance with the relevant foreign investment laws and related
laws is not required and shall only terminate subject to the approval
of the Company and that the Subject Persons can demonstrate to the
satisfaction of the Company and the Stock Exchange that the Group
is no longer required to comply with the relevant foreign investment
laws and related laws in relation to domestic investment.

Each of the Subject Persons confirmed to the Company that they have
complied with the undertaking for the period from the completion of
acquisition, up to and until 31 December 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The Company’s Undertaking

The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange (the “Company’s
Undertaking") that:

1. the Company shall at all times enforce the letters of undertakings
provided by the Subject Persons; and

2. save for any issue of new shares pursuant to the exercise of any
share options, the Company shall not issue any new shares to any
person(s) who is/are not the Subject Persons, whether pursuant
to the specific mandate and/or the general mandate from
the shareholders, unless the following conditions are satisfied:
(i) the aggregate shareholdings of all the Subject Persons
would represent not less than 50% (or such other percentage
shareholding in the Company as required by applicable PRC laws
and regulations from time to time as confirmed in writing by the
Company’'s PRC Legal Adviser to ensure “control” of the Company
so that the VIE Contracts continue to be in full force and effect)
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company, assuming
all share options have been fully exercised, upon completion of
such issue of shares; and (ii) the Stock Exchange has confirmed
in writing that it has no objection to the proposed issue of
shares. If so requested by the Stock Exchange, the Company shall
provide to the Stock Exchange a legal opinion issued by a PRC
Legal Adviser for its assessment of the implications (if any) of the
proposed issue of shares under the prevailing applicable PRC
laws and regulations.

The Company’s Undertaking shall continue in full force and effect
unless and until the Company is no longer required to comply with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations governing the VIE Contracts and the
Stock Exchange has given its written consent for the termination of the
Company's Undertaking.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the Company’s
Undertaking for the period from the completion of acquisition, up to
and until 31 December 2023.
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MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed above, there had not been any material change in
the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2023.

UNWINDING OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Contracts, the WFOE has
the right to unwind the VIE Contracts as soon as the relevant PRC laws
allow the WFOE to register itself as the shareholder of the OPCO. The
VIE Equity Owners have also undertaken that in the event the relevant
PRC laws allow the WFOE to operate the business of the OPCO without
the VIE Contracts in the future, they shall unwind the VIE Contracts and
return any consideration received if the WFOE or its designated party
acquires the equity interests in the OPCO from them.

Up to the date of this report, there has not been any unwinding of any
Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND VENDORS OF THE GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest customers
of the Group in aggregate accounted for approximately 26.4% of the
Group’s revenue and the largest customer accounted for approximately
14.8% of the revenue of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 30.4% of the Group’s total shipment volume placed by
the Group and the largest vendor accounted for approximately 15.6%
of the Group’s total shipment value placed by the Group.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in
the customers or vendors noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company, nor

any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any securities of
the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DONATION
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made charitable

donations of approximately HK$8,000.

PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the

prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event affecting the Group after the
reporting period and up to the date of this report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LAU Shu Yan (Chairman), Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang
and Mr. ZHANG Huijun. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Company the audited financial statements.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young, who acted as the auditor of the Company since 11
December 2008, resigned on 28 October 2021 and RSM Hong Kong
("RSM") was appointed as the auditor of the Company by an ordinary
resolution passed in the SGM held on 7 December 2021.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by RSM who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint RSM as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the shareholders of Daohe Global Group Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dache Global
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 71 to 159, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirement of the Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on

Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BYRBENRES

RSM

BEPSE B

HEMBERFE_+/)\5%
NEZH - +N+18

RSM Hong Kong

T+8522598 5123
F+85225987230

&5 +8522598 5123
HH +85225987230

www.rsmhk.com www.rsmhk.com

BYZEMBES

# Daohe Global Group Limited & f1 IR R & B
ERAGZHERER
(REREZEFME L2 HFRLA])

=z
=

KPP EZENE 71 E159 5 B Daoche Global
Group Limited BEFIRHKEBBR AR ([EAF))
REMBAR (5E EE®E])) MEREMBEHRE
AV BHRERBEN_E-_=F+=_A=+—H
AT B REHZZA EFENLEE B
X RABEZRHEMEEWER  GAEREH
ENGAEERERUNGEAMBRERME (B
BERGHHREER) -

BARG HEAMBERRCERBRELEGHMHAE
((BEREHMAE]) MRMEBH GRS LR
((BERAMBREENDEEMAFIHRR S5
BN _=F+_-_A=+—RAZEAUBHAR
NREHEZALFREZGEEUBRAMGER
B WORARGHIZHBEREZRRE -

\:

RREVER
BPEREBESHMASRMON BT BRI LR
([BEREFFERN]DETER BANZFELR
THEREARESZBMEERFEPBHRRZ
BEE—fhFD - REFEGAMOGZIRES
rEmERSTR (TSR - HAIBLRY BEXEY
BEETAETEMERET - RABEE - 3
PIERHNEZRIE LR MEE AR MNEZ
BRIRMLER -

ERIRKEBERAR]
R CEER



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHERES

Key Audit Matters

RELSEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,  RIEFR I B X 4 - AR EZEBEARMEX
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ~AEGRA P EHRRPTZEEMNETE - HFIERE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in ~ BAZGAMBERRMAL K ERHERENESE
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statementsasa ' M AERILEEEEBFHERER - HfI2H#
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a Bl 2 B EZ EE A ¢

separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is:

Key Audit Matter
HRELER

Assessment on expected credit loss (“ECL") for trade receivables

AEEEEZRBECEREERR ((REEEER))

Refer to Notes 4(j), 5 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements

A2 HRMEEA() - 5 k20

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a carrying value of trade
receivables of US$3,931,000. An allowance of US$668,000 for
trade receivables has been made as at the year end.
RZBEZ=F+ZA=+—H  E5EZEKESENR
BREI{E /3,931,000K 7T » NFAER B EWE 5 RFE B
668,000 3 T

In conducting the assessment on ECL for trade receivables,
management applied the simplified approach to measure the
lifetime expected loss allowance for trade receivables of the
Group. Management used judgement in making the assumptions
about the risk of default and expected credit loss rate with
reference to the historical loss rates, existing market conditions
and forward-looking estimates on macroeconomic factors.
RETEKRESGRA AP EEBERZTHE  BEE
R HZEFE BEXERKESRRC2HEHE
BREE - EEEELABENRRREHEEEFRXY
BEFERAE BH2ZEEEEX BROmARY
LEKBERERORIE LGS -

The assessment on ECL for trade receivables is our area of focus
given it is subject to estimation uncertainties and the significant
amount of the related balances.
HREREZRFCEREEBE 2 TMHI RMEFTZT
MEURBEAZEBE#®SE B ESRMERNEE
ZEIE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ERNTEEEREREE

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
management assessment on ECL for trade receivables:
BPEREREHRKEIREZAHEEREZT
HBITUA TR -

understood, evaluated and validated management’s
controls and processes over customer’s credit controls
and collection of trade receivables, the assessment of
recoverability and the estimation of allowance for trade
receivables;

TR AEREFEEEEBHTPEEES RO E
WE 5 BRRE B HE SR Fr ~ AT BN 89 31 1 K2 fE L
B S RFBHEOME

assessing inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, change, susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;

BRAZRMFF I HEUEEEREMERREREZ
K BlaREAEY - FEM  BEUREERRR
SHREE 2 BURRME - DA B REEER IR 2 (BB @B

obtained management’s assessment on ECL for trade
receivables and assessed reasonableness of assumptions
with reference to the historical loss rates, existing
market conditions and forward-looking estimates on
macroeconomic factors, and corroborated management’s
explanation to underlying documentation and external
market data on market conditions;
MEEEEHEKE SRR AREE BRI
W2EBEBEE ROMAKBZELBERERN
AT A BRENEEY  UREEEREEY
AR RA S B T35 R 5 B SN BB T 35 B PR R AR S

tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
profile of trade receivables at year end to invoices; and
AHER T A SRR B R R B 45 B IS R IE 5 BRK
HERENE © I

tested, on a sample basis, post-year end settlement
of trade receivables against cash receipts or other
supporting documents.

VA #7720 3 BR IR & W 3k st EL h 38 B SO ORI 6
HRABNEWE SRR ZERNER -



Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other

information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirement of the
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHERES

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHERES

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the REMEBERREMBRRZ2ET®

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHERES

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Liu Fung Yi.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2023 i ZE —E =+ _-_A=+—BILEE

2023 2022
—EBC-=fF -
Note UsS$’000 US$'000
Mo e FEx FE

| | I ] |
REVENUE g 7 44,355 51,878
Cost of sales $HE A (27,302) (34,776)
Gross profit EH 17,053 17,102
Other income Habug A 8 997 1,430
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHERERY (2,878) (2,619)
General and administrative expenses —MRITER T (12,874) (14,248)
Finance costs 7% & A 9 (113) (104)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #13 - &= K R &R E 16 - (20)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FERAEEERE 17 - (499)
(Allowance)/reversal of allowance for trade JEWE 5 BR R (B E)

receivables Bt R 20 (24) 219
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRBE AT R 10 2,161 1,261
Income tax FriS#i 13 (183) (240)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLETO 742 F#EH A FE{h

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FE=A 1,978 1,021
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO A AEERER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BEAELGSRER

COMPANY

(expressed in US cent) (LAENMLZ3)) 15
Basic AR 0.13 0.07
Diluted g 0.13 007

Eﬂiﬁiﬁ%@ﬁ@@ﬂ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBEmkEMZEKER

Yearended 31 December 2023 EHZE T =F+_A=+—HIFE
4 7 |

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
Note USs$’000 US$'000
B 5 FErx FET
| | I | |
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEA 1,978 1,021
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit2EBA
Item that may be reclassified to REZBEEEEFHE
profit or loss in subsequent periods: EEm2IERB -
Exchange differences on translation of ~ B GINETE 2 [EH =58
foreign operations 95 (744)
Item that will not be reclassified to REZBEATEEH»EE
profit or loss in subsequent periods: BmIHE -
Remeasurements from defined EREAFT Bl EHGE
benefit plan 28(a) (4) 24
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHM2EBA
FOR THE YEAR 91 (720)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ARABEEAEMEER2E
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO PNt
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 2,069 301
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI R

Asat 31 December 203 R —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E=-=
Note Us$’000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FET
. ! | ] |
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B LG 16 447 305
Right-of-use assets CREEE 17 1,253 765
Financial asset at fair value through BAVEGFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 18 123 167
Deposits Ze 21 309 221
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 2,132 1,458
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories EE 19 861 837
Trade receivables FEUE 5 IR 20 3,931 3,210
Prepayments, deposits and TBNRIE - Ze &k
other receivables E {th fE W k08 21 2,352 2,562
Bank deposits with initial term of M ERBAE=EA 2
over three months RITIFE N 3,538 3,724
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEBEER 22 16,602 14,482
Total current assets RBEERE 27,284 24,815
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FETE SRR 23 1,502 885
Accruals, provisions and EEtEA - BER
other payables H i JE < R IE 24 6,522 6,458
Contract liabilities aHEE 25 1,640 1378
Lease liabilities HEBRE 26 991 697
Loan from a shareholder RE—ZBREER 32(a) 3,856 3,856
Bank borrowings RITIE 27 296 416
Tax payable FES IR 348 446
Total current liabilities BB EEE 15,155 14,136
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 12,129 10,679
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEARER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE 14,261 12,137

ERIRKEBERAR]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE SRR
Asat31 December2023 R —E-=F+-F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —_=E2-—

Note US$'000 US$'000

B 5 FEx FE
I I N I B
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 566 703
Provisions B 24 154 -
Post-employment benefits & 8 RIKET 28 212 174
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERTE 932 877
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,329 11,260
EQUITY s
Share capital f& A< 29 20,128 20,128
Reserves G (6,799) (8,868)
TOTAL EQUITY A 13,329 11,260

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and are signed R -Z W& =F -+ +HKES<H & - W H

on its behalf by: THEERKRESE:
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis & & & LONG Liping 5 %I
Director & % Director B#

Daohe Global Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

WMm%M1%w%am5§§f§:_¢+:ﬁ5+*ﬁﬁig

Attributable to owners of the Company

KADREARL
(Capital Exchange

Share Share Special  redemption Capital  fluctuation  Accumulated

capital premium reserve’ reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EXRD EXkD

Bx  BfteE  HARRE B EIGRR B RiER it
USS000  US§000  USS000  USS00  USS000  USS000  USS000  USS000

R FRn fRn 0 fEn R fRn R fiR
I A S S S S S S

At1January 2022 A\—E-—F-f-A 0128 153409 50 48 1,695 3097 (167468) 10959
Total comprehensive incore and ERREYNEER

changes in equity for the year Eng - - - - - (724) 1045 301
At31 Decerber 2022.and ;3::&% RA=1t-Rk

1 January 2023 “3-=%-f-H 20,128 153,409* 50% 48 1,695% 2,353* (166,423)* 11,260
Total comprehensive income and EERENALER

changes n equityforthe year % ot - - - - - 9 1974 2,069
At 31 December 2023 A\ZE=F+-A=1-A 20,128 153,409* 50% 48 1,695% 2,448* (164,449) 13,329

¢ Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of share capital ~ * HERFEEENARREBTRATAEEAQRBEBIA
of the Company issued and the aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital BB NREZHNBRARIRAEERE =5 -
of subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an exchange of shares.

These reserve amounts comprise the negative consolidated reserves of U5$6,799,000  * ZERBECHEERERERHE79000ET(ZE =2
(2022: US$8,868,000). F 1 8,868,00037T) °

ﬂ%ﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬂj
Z=FFR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERERER

Yearended 31 December 2023 EHZE T =F+_A=+—HIFE

2023

—EB-=fF

Note USs$’000
e FER

2022

US$'000
FTET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETDHREBRERE

Profit before tax: BR BB A - 2,161 1,261
Adjustments for: ALK
Reversal of provisions B ERE 8 - (154)
Bank interest income RITHBHA 8 (441) (240)
Gain on termination of lease BIEHE 2 W 8 (28) =
Finance costs b e =4 9 113 104
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial asset BERAFEFAERZ SR
at fair value through profit or loss BEANFEER (W) 10 44 (32)
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz BERZETE
equipment 10 158 360
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 10 749 759
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for fEUWE BRI E,
trade receivables (BERE) 24 (219)
Allowance for inventories FERE 10 7 88
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE - BE LR E
equipment Z &8 10 - 1
Impairment of property, plant and Wz - BERERERE
equipment - 20
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 499
Operating profit before working capital % 38 & & % B il 48 & 555 7l
changes 2,787 2447
Increase in inventories TEIEM (31) (153)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  FEUWE 5 B8R 7k (38 0), T8k (745) 5015
Decrease in prepayments, depositsand ~ FBfF (I8 ~ #E& R H A
other receivables JrE W R B R > 122 1,707
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERT 2 SR G4 617 (3,368)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, JERTER - BE - EaEf
provisions, other payables and FEREAEHEEL N
contract liabilities = 480 (725)
Increase/(decrease) in post-employment 18 & iR K4 F1& i, Crl
benefits 42 (20)
Cash generated from operations REEBMERE 3,272 4,903
Tax paid EHIE (279) (89)
Interest paid for lease liabilities BENHEEGENHNE 30(b) (90) 71)
Net cash generated from BB TSR & F 8
operating activities 2,903 4,743
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,\/T\ fﬁim%%

Yearended 31 December 2023 & ZE— T —=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022

—E-=F —_=EFEq_—
Note Uss$’000 US$'000
Mo FER FET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBRERE

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTTHE 441 240
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BELHZE

equipment 16 (307) (164)
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits MR FR R m =@ A 2 E1T

with initial term of over three months TR,/ (38h0) 186 (3,724)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant &% « BE REEHHME

and equipment A 2 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) WEEREE, (FTFE)

investing activities e /55 322 (3,648)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHAERERE

ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments HENFzAEH S 30(b) (1,043) (1,169)
New bank borrowings L IRITIE R 426 446
Repayment of bank borrowings ERIBITENR (540) (1,115)
Bank interest paid BAIIRITHE (22) (28)
Net cash used in financing activities BB REFTAEIR & 5 (1,179) (1,866)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH ¥ & RkIREZEEIER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®gin/CRD) B8 2,046 771)
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEEE T8 FHE

changes, net 74 (851)
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTSAT R—A—RAZE&RES

1 JANUARY Z£EEAE 14,482 16,104
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTSAT R+-—A=+—-HZER&RK

31 DECEMBER Re&ZE®ER 16,602 14,482
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERAELEEEBAZ

EQUIVALENTS 2
Bank and cash balances SRIT MR &4 16,602 14,482
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ma B RRM

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_-_HA=+—H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Daohe Global Group Limited (the “Company’) is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries (together with the
Company are collectively referred to as the "Group”) are
principally engaged in the trading and supply chain management
services, and operation of online social platforms.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda. The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’) since 10 May 2002.

The directors regard Sino Remittance Holding Limited, which
was incorporated in Seychelles, as the controlling shareholder
of the Company and Daohe Global Investment Holding Limited,
which was incorporated in Seychelles, as the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company as at 31 December 2023.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules’) and with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622).

These financial statements are presented in United States dollars
("US$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M ERERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+—-A=+—H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONGKONG 3. AT REEIIEBHBHREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) ERFIIREBETEANBEREE

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 "Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements” is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

3. AD

OPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” (continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. The Group chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
does not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgments”
(the “Practice Statement’) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction” for the first time in the current year. The
amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal
and offsetting temporary differences — e.g. leases.

Prior to the adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12, the
Group applied the initial recognition exemption under
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 for leasing transactions
that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences,
and therefore no deferred tax has been recognised for
temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities at initial recognition, and also over the lease
terms under paragraph 22(c) of HKAS 12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M ERERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+—-A=+—H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONGKONG 3. AT REEIIEBHBHREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) Al ()
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (a) ERAHFIIRKEBITEBMBHREE

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction” (continued)

The Group has applied the transitional provisions under
paragraphs 98K and 98L of Amendments to HKAS 12 to
leasing transactions that occur on or after the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented and also, at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented by:

()  Recognising a deferred tax asset to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised, and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities; and

(i) Recognising the cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings (or other component of
equity, as appropriate) at that date.

Based on the management’s assessment, there was
immaterial impact on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2023, because the deferred tax assets
and the deferred tax liabilities recognised as a result of the
adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12 qualify for offset
under paragraph 74 of HKAS 12. There was also immaterial
impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1 January
2022 as a result of the change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund ("MPF”)
— Long Service Payment ("LSP’) offsetting mechanism in

Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under
certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes
mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for the
retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting
of LSP against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits
derived from employers’ MPF contributions was allowed
under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57).

In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use
of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP
(the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the
Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of
termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion
of LSP in respect of the employment period before the

Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting
for the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented the
guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the
LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable
and more relevant information about the effects of the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M ERERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+—-A=+—H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONGKONG 3. AT REEIIEBHBHREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) Bl (@)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (a) ERFIIREBETEANBEREE

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
— Long Service Payment ("LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (continued)

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP as a deemed contribution by the employee towards the
LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for
the deemed employee contributions as a reduction of the
service cost in the period in which the related service is
rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered “linked
solely to the employee’s service in that period” since the
mandatory employer MPF contributions after the Transition
Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition LSP
obligation. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to view
the contributions as “independent of the number of years
of service” and the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b)
of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service
in the same manner as the gross LSP applying paragraph
93(a) of HKAS 19. Since the amount of the cumulative
catch-up profit or loss adjustment for the year ended 31
December 2022 was immaterial, the Group did not restate
the comparative figures for the financial statements.
Accordingly, the Group has recognised the cumulative
catch-up adjustment in the profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2023, with corresponding adjustment to the
LSP obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+_-A=+—H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) Al ()

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

BRMBREERA

RN RAEERT B BMBREE
(b) T 58 i {B 18 R 4 R #T 5T R AR AERT

The Group has not applied any amendments to standards
and interpretation that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2023.
The amendments to standards and interpretation include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

AEBYERACSEMMERRAR -F
TR HRANMBRFELEN
ZEAERIZERT AR - /] g
AEBABZERZEITARRESR
ETAIEE-

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RT5 B
RUUERBZ
B HBEX

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BREGEAF 1R ZEBIR-BEDBERRIYKIFRD

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BREGEF 1R BN -MHRENIFRBDAE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification

1 January 2024
—E-mFE—A—H

1 January 2024
—F_NFE—-A—H

1 January 2024

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BEREF ST (BREF) MBRRN2I -ERABHERER

ERERZ D

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability
ERGFERE 2R BRI AR -BRZ A T

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and interpretation
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which has been measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

() the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(i) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(i) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at the acquisition date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the
consideration transferred is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (continued)

(c)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value
is added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a
business combination to calculate the goodwill.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units ("“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group
of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill
impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
awhole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(1)

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in USS, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates; and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of 5 years or
the lease terms

Furniture and equipment  3to 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_-_HA=+—H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(f)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

)

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. E A HEER @)

(continued)

(f) Leases (continued)

f HE@®

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.

(i) The Group as alessee (continued) () AEEERAHEA (&)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably REBECDSE T A RHEBAS
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased RENGHEEEEEmGEN
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated FRAEEERRGBBREEE
from commencement date to the end of the useful FRERERIEETIRINE - TEH A
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on BAT FRAEEERESEER
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated HEhFraFERFERAER (AR
useful life and the lease term. RERLE)NFHRITE -
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted ENAREREZRSBEBEESH
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. BHREEAFORARI M FIZA
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are FEFE VT BAKHATE
considered as additional lease payments and included FRBEFRINEENRIET AL
in the cost of right-of-use assets. FREEENAK -

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a WMESESHNANRARELHED
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for HEHESIHERBLHIRES

a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease BTNERAEBEEAR BIEY
contract that is not accounted for as a separate lease. HEBBETENNE -HERE
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based BAT HEABREBETED
on the revised lease payments and lease term using HENREREE MR - EAEET
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the BHBIR EMEFT AR A B ER
modification. = o

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets (90 FEMEERE
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(9)

(h)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/CGU whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against the
goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the other
assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable
amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to
profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(h) Financial assets (continued)
Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to

receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one

of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

e SRR MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(h)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost, trade and other receivables.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument. ECL are
based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_-_HA=+—H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group's debtors operate, obtained from
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's core operations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. The Group considers a financial
asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

()

(k)

()]

(m)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery the contractual cash flows.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability under HKFRSs. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
are set out below.

Bank borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

()

(k)

()]

(m)
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Groups transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e,, transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Sales of merchandise

Revenue from sale of merchandise is recognised at the
point when the control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Commission income
Commission income is recognised at the point in time
when the control of the underlying goods procured by the
Group are transferred.

Internet value-added services ('IVAS”) revenue

Revenue from IVAS is generated from the Group’s online
social platforms. Revenues from IVAS primarily include
revenues from the provision of online entertainment.

The Group operates a virtual currency system, under which,
the users can directly purchase virtual currency on mobile
phone application (“APP”) via online payment systems
provided by third parties including payments using mobile
phones, internet debit/credit cards and other third party
payment systems. The virtual currency can be used to play
online games.

Upon the sales of the virtual currency, the Group typically
has an implied obligation to provide services to enable the
virtual currency to be consumed in the APP through online
games. As a result, the proceeds received from sales of the
virtual currency are initially recorded as deferred revenue.
The attributable portion of the deferred revenue relating to
values of the virtual currency consumed is immediately or
ratably recognised as revenue only when the services are
rendered to the respective users.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Other services income

Income from rendering of services are recognised at the
point in time when the services are rendered.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Reimbursement income from customers, handling
fee income, inspection and laboratory test income are
recognised when the services are rendered.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments ("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. E A HEER @)

(continued)

AR 32 44 (40)

(s) Share-based payments (continued) (s)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions
within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award
on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards
are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t)

Other employee benefits

(1)

Pension schemes

Defined contribution pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees in
Hong Kong who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Group
has joined defined contribution retirement schemes
for the employees arranged by local government
labour and security authorities (the “PRC Retirement
Schemes”). The Group makes contributions to the
PRC Retirement Schemes at the applicable rates based
on the amounts stipulated by the local government
organisations. Upon retirement, the local government
labour and security authorities are responsible for
the payment of the retirement benefits to the retired
employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in other overseas countries are required to
participate in the pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. Contributions are made
based on the requirements of the respective local
municipal government, the contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t) Other employee benefits (continued)

(1)

Pension schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit pension
plan, which requires contributions to be made to a
separately administered fund, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the scheme. The cost
of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is
determined separately using the projected unit credit
valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension
plans, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect
of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in
net interest on the net defined benefit liability) and
the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability),
are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding
debit or credit to retained profits through other
comprehensive income in the period in which they
occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the
earlier of:

- the date of the plan amendment or curtailment;
and

- the date that the Group recognises restructuring-
related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate
to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation under “General and administrative
expenses”in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss by function:

= service costs comprising current service costs,

past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments
and non-routine settlements; and

= net interest expense or income
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(t) Other employee benefits (continued)

(1)

(1)

(i)

Pension schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension scheme (continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s
defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from
this calculation is limited to the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plans or reduction in future contributions to
the plan.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.

LSP obligation

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and
it is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Employee leave entitlements

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following year. An accrual
is made at the end of the reporting period for the
expected future cost of such paid leave earned during
the year by the employees and carried forward.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

When the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_-_HA=+—H

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(w) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised and a deferred tax

liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(w) Taxation (continued)

(x)

(y)

(2)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends either to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
association and bye-laws grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group'’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE SRR MR
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BERAUABRETEME

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

Accounting for companies governed under contractual
arrangements as subsidiaries

The Group's operation of online social platforms business is
carried out through a domestic company, established under the
laws of the PRC, namely =31 T 24P B f 25 5 R /A R (Loovee
Science and Technology Development Co. Ltd.*) ("Loovee
Development’). Loovee Development holds the necessary
licenses and approvals to operate internet- related businesses in
the PRC.

The Company does not have any equity interest in Loovee
Development. The directors of the Company assessed whether
or not the Group has control over Loovee Development based
on whether the Group has the power over Loovee Development,
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with Loovee
Development and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Loovee Development. Nevertheless, the
contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal
ownership in providing the Group with direct control over the
consolidated entities and uncertainties presented by the PRC
legal system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the
assets, liabilities and results of operations of the consolidated
entities. The directors of the Company, based on the advice of
its legal counsel, consider that the contractual arrangements
between Loovee Development and their respective equity
shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable. After
assessment, the directors of the Company concluded that the
Group has control over Loovee Development as a result of the
contractual arrangements as detailed in Note 37 and other
measures. Accordingly, the Group has consolidated the financial
information of Loovee Development and its subsidiaries for the
year in the consolidated financial statements.

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in Note 4(j), ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase
in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and expected
credit losses is a significant estimate. The amount of expected
credit losses is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not
be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the expected credit losses on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is US$3,931,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts
of US$668,000) (2022: USS$3,210,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of US$660,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+_-A=+—H

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BRABRETEMRST®@

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for inventories

The estimation of provision for inventories involves significant
judgment based on the consideration of key factors such as aging
profile, future sales projection, estimated future selling prices
and selling expenses of the respective inventories. Management
reassesses these estimations of provision for inventories at each
balance sheet date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Further details are given in Note 16 and 17 to the financial
statements.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement and estimation is required in determining
the amount of the provision for tax and the timing of payment
of the related taxes. There are transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax provisions in
the periods in which such determination is made. The carrying
amount of tax payable as at 31 December 2023 was US$348,000
(2022: US$446,000). During the year, income tax expense of
US$183,000 (2022: US$240,000) was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated assessable profit.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Actuarial assumptions on defined benefit retirement plans
Accounting for defined benefit plans may be complex because
actuarial assumptions are required to measure the obligation and
the expense, with the possibility that actual results differ from
the assumed results. These differences are known as actuarial
gains and losses. Defined benefit obligations are measured
using the Projected Unit Credit Method (“PUCM"), according to
which the Group has to make a reliable estimate of the amount
of benefits earned in return for services rendered in current and
prior periods, using actuarial techniques. In addition, in cases
where defined benefit plans are funded, the Group has to estimate
the fair value of plan assets. As a result, the use of the PUCM
involves a number of actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include demographic assumptions such as mortality, turnover
and retirement age and financial assumptions such as discount
rates, salary and benefit levels. Such assumptions are subject
to judgements and may develop materially differently than
expected and therefore may result in significant impacts on
defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of defined benefit plan and LSP as at 31
December 2023 was US$42,000 (2022: US$45,000) and USS$33,000
(2022: Nil) respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's business comprises two reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@) trading and supply chain management services; and
(b)  operation of online social platforms.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The
adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with
the Group's profit before tax except that bank interest income,
interest on bank borrowings as well as corporate and other
unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

Segment assets do not include corporate and other unallocated
assets. Segment liabilities do not include loan from a shareholder
as well as corporate and other unallocated liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire I IR

31 December2023 =L = =F+=A=+—H

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. RESBER 1)

I Y Y B N R
Trading and Operation

supply chain of online
management social
services platforms Total
B K HERE ReEmE
EERE HRFAE st
Note US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
B EE TER TERn TERn

I I I I I
Yearended 31 December2023 HBE-ZT=-=%
TZA=+—-HILEEE

Segment revenue: oW
Revenue from external customers REINREP 2 W 7 17,627 26,728 44,355
Segment results DHEEE 1,269 1,157 2,426
Bank interest income RITH WA an
Corporate and other unallocated % R EH AR5 B

expenses 53 (684)
Interest on bank borrowings RITEKFE (22)
Profit before tax B Bt Al A 2,161
Income tax Frig % (183)
Profit for the year F 5 A 1,978
Other segment information: Hit 2 EE R
Fairvalue loss on financial assetat ~ RAFEFABZE 2 & &

fair value through profit or loss BEZATEERE 44 - 44
Depreciation: wE:

Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 93 65 158

Right-of-use assets REEE 525 224 749
Capital expenditures BEARFX 301 6 307
Allowance for trade receivables W E 5 BR SR 9 15 24
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZEBZ=%

+=BA=+—H

Segment assets TEEE 14,340 14,957 29,297
Corporate and other unallocated EREMRDE

assets BE 119
Total assets BEBE 29,416
Segment liabilities STEEE 7,052 5,092 12,144
Loan from a shareholder RE—BRRER 3,856
Corporate and other unallocated 1% R EH AR 5 B

liabilities afE 87
Total liabilities BEBS 16,087
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Year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M ERERMIEE

31 December2023 —E-=F+—-A=+—H
6. RESEER W
I B I I I

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

HE-_T—-_—

TZA=+—-BIEHFE

Trading and
supply chain
management
services
EEN§ 3
B R

Note US$'000

Operation
of online
social
platforms
HZEE
US$'000

Total

EE

Uss$'000

Segment revenue: DR
Revenue from external customers REIATE 2 Was 7 26,737 25,141 51878
Segment results DEEE 3,931 (1,981) 1,950
Bank interest income RITHLS WA 240
Corporate and other unallocated {3 R H AR 5 AL

expenses 53 (901)
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE (298)
Profit before tax BREE AT R A 1,261
Income tax PS5t (240)
Profit for the year FEEH 1,021
Other segment information: HittpEEHR :
Impairment of property, plantand 1% ~ BE KRB RE

equipment - 20 20
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE = 499 499
Fair value gain on financial assetat IR ATFEFT ABZE 2 &l

fair value through profit or loss BEZATERS (32) = (32)
Depreciation: E:

Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 36 324 360

Right-of-use assets EREEE 362 397 759
Capital expenditures ¥R 140 24 164
Reversal of allowance for trade W B 5 R R

receivables (160) (59) (219
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZT__F

+=ZA=+—~H

Segment assets THEE 13,464 12,570 26,034
Corporate and other unallocated EREMRDE

assets BE 239
Total assets AEHE 26,273
Segment liabilities SEEE 7,189 3,808 10,997
Loan from a shareholder TE—BRFEER 3,856
Corporate and other unallocated EREMRDE

liabilities AfE 160
Total liabilities BERR 15013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ReExEER W
Geographical information b 35 & #
(a) Revenue from external customers (@ HKEIREFZ W
. f5 ] |
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
UsS$’000 US$'000
Fxx FET
i ! |
PRC H 29,014 27,834
Southern hemisphere RS2 6,753 10,334
North America 1 =M 5,480 9,569
Europe EOM 1,173 1,907
Others Hh 1,935 2,234
44,355 51,878

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

E RS ERTRBERPAERZS -

(b) Non-current assets b) FERENEE

2023 2022
—E-=HE —ET-—F
US$’000 US$'000
FEx F=T

I B I S
PRC s 1,088 1,223
Hong Kong BB 774 26
Others =i} 147 42
2,009 1,291

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of assets and excludes a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. BREQEEHR

Information about major customers FBEXERFZER

Revenue from a major customer, which amounted to 10% or RKE—BEEEP (GRS B UL 10% 3 A
more of the Group's revenue, is set out below: Bz k=5 mT

Operating segment 2023 2022
BErE —E-=F% —F-_—
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
I | I
Customer A Trading and supply chain management services 6,552 9,937
BEPA 25 RMHEEE R
REVENUE 7. Wz
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBWREZHTAT -

2023 2022
—E-= [ —

US$000 US$'000

FEx FTET

Revenue from contracts with customers — BIZ P B4 AT 75

Sales of merchandise & an 3 & 11,188 18,813
Commission income EEA PN 9,870 11,751
IVAS revenue b BRI B BR A5 I e 23,297 21,287
Other services income E A RS WA - 27

44,355 51,878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

7. REVENUE (continued) 7. Wz )
Disaggregated revenue information W ER

Trading and Operation
supply chain of online
management social
services platforms Total
B RAEHE RER/E
Segments k| EERE #HREE et
US$'000 US$’000 US$'000
Txn xR TER

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-ZT-_=f
+=-A=+—-HLEE

Type of goods or services EYRREER

Sales of merchandise s 7,757 3,431 11,188

Commission income BakA 9,870 - 9,870

IVAS revenue B B 4832 (B AR 75 e a2 - 23,297 23,297
17,627 26,728 44,355

Geographical markets iy & T 3%

PRC H 2,286 26,728 29,014

Southern hemisphere R IR 6,753 - 6,753

North America LM 5,480 - 5,480

Europe BOM 1,173 - 1,173

Others Hith 1,935 - 1,935
17,627 26,728 44,355

Timing of revenue recognition Rz

Goods transferred/services rendered ata R RESEHEEEY)

point in time AR 17,627 26,728 44,355
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A
#REH

FIE R T E

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

Total

85t
US$'000

REVENUE (continued) 7. W o)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued) DM EER (@)
] | | |
Trading and Operation
supply chain of online
management social
services platforms
B REERE rRE®E
Segments R EBRH RRZFEE
US$'000 US$'000
FET FET

TER

i —
T-A=+—HLEFE

Year ended 31 December 2022

Type of goods or services EYRREER

Sales of merchandise I mEE 14,986 3,827 18,813

Commission income (AN 11,751 = 11,751

IVAS revenue G B AL E IR s = 21,287 21,287

Other services income HRUA = 27 27
26,737 25141 51,878

Geographical markets ity & T 3%

PRC H 2,693 25,141 27,834

Southern hemisphere I ESE2K 10,334 = 10,334

North America JEEM 9,569 = 9,569

Europe BUM 1,907 = 1,907

Others Hit 2234 = 2234
26,737 25141 51,878

Timing of revenue recognition KRR 2R

Goods transferred/services rendered ata R ERZHEZEY)

point in time RS 26,737 25,141 51,878
E*ﬂiﬁfiﬁ%ﬁ@@ﬂ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

7.

REVENUE (continued)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of merchandise

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from
delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.

Commission income

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
underlying goods procured by the Group and payment is
generally due within 30 to 60 days from the invoice date.

IVAS revenue

The performance obligation is satisfied when the services are
rendered, details of IVAS revenue and its recognition is set out in
Note 4(r).

Other services income

The performance obligation is satisfied when the services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from
invoice date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

OTHER INCOME 8. HAblr A
An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows: AEEBZEMBAZAFTAT :

2023 2022

—E-= -z
Note USs$’000 US$'000
M3 FERx F=T

I Y I I

Bank interest income RITHRE YA 441 240

Reimbursement income from customers KB & F Z E U A 4 2

Handling fee income FEBWA 16 40

Inspecting and laboratory test income BB R ERERHBA - 1

Subsidy income from Employment [RBLEEGT 81 RE U A

Support Scheme a - 130

Government subsidies BT #8 B b 456 820

Reversal of provisions BERE - 154

Fair value gain on financial asset at BRATFEAER

fair value through profit or loss SREEATFEKS 18 - 32
Gain on termination of lease LIEHE 2 e 28 =
Others EAh 52 11

997 1,430

Notes: Mt sk -

(@  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised @ #HEZZE-__F+-A=+—RHILFE K&
government grants in respect of COVID-19 of US$130,000 from ERREBBUNRMEZ R EBRI2019
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. KR 9 2 BURT B 130,000 € 7T ©

(b)  Government subsidies are mainly related to the subsidies received from b) BNFHEBETBEARAEEERE 2K
the local government authority for the achievemnents accomplished by 77 BRAT #% B W BR 2+ B ©
the Group.

FINANCE COSTS 9. MKEHR

I . I

2023 2022
—E-= T

USs$’000 US$'000

FERx FET

I . Y

Interest on bank borrowings (Note 30(b)) RATHE TS (Bt 3 30(b)) 22 28

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 30(b)) HMEBEFE (M5E300b)) 90 71

Other finance costs: increase in discounted ~ EbBA TS & A « BER R A M

amounts of provisions arising from the EeEELR e E

passage of time 1 5

13 104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+_-A=+—H

10. BRBE A% A
AEE 2 BRBDE TR, (GEA) AT
£IF

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
—E-= =

Note USs$’000 US$'000
Bt 5E FErx FET

I Y S I
Cost of inventories sold* EEFEEZHA 9,648 17,523
Cost of services provided? ERERB 2 KA 17,654 17,253
Research and development expenditure*  fiff 2% 3% H * 1,355 1,576

Depreciation e

— Property, plant and equipment -WE - BEKEE 16 158 360
— Right-of-use assets - (EREEE 17 749 759
907 1,119

Lease payments not included in the

FNAHERGEFEN

measurement of lease liabilities s 17 8 75
Auditor's remuneration 1% BRI 57 B
— Audit services™ - FET AR 241 258
— Non-audit services —FEBET RS - =
Employee benefit expense (including EERARAEZ (B
directors’ remuneration — Note 11): EEEHM-MIEN)
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e AP T AW o= 9,583 10,200
Staff welfare and benefits BTEA &A@t 163 492
Pension scheme contributions” RKe &I
— defined contribution scheme - EREHERETE 1,249 1,507
— defined benefit plans - ERBENETE 28(a) 1 1
- LSP -RERBE 28(b) 33 -
11,029 12,200
Foreign exchange differences, net bE 3 Z 55 EE 262 271
Allowance for inventories GFEEE 7 88
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial asset BEAFEFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TMEEANTFEEER
(Hs) 18 44 32)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEWE  BE X
equipment R B 1R - 1
# Included in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 8 FFAREBRERZHEERAR o
& Included in cost of services provided in the consolidated statement of & FFAGREBRR ZBRERE ZKEAA -

profit or loss.

A E BN E B IE A B AR A B 4% B 2 &
ECMELAZBFBRA200ET(ZF
— Z4F 1 203000%7T) ©

- The audit fee in relation to the Company’s auditor, RSM Hong Kong -
of US$211,000 (2022: US$203,000) was included in the auditor’s
remuneration.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had no material forfeited contributions " R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H A&EETES
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future AECRUBGR IR @ 5T 8 R AT L S R R FE At
years (2022: Nil). H(ZBZ=F 8\ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. EE M
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the REEZRE ETARA - 2 EHEBIZE 383(1)@)
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Companies B OMOIFEARAR(BBEESNEZER)
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information MOIFE 2B ATFTHE2EEHIOT :

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F —_EFEE-—

Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FEr

I . I
Fees we 173 262

Other emoluments: Hibe -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He  RMNEWHE 798 798
Performance related bonuses (BB RETEAL 625 450
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B 140 227
1,563 1,475
Total et 1,736 1,737

ERIRKEBERAR]
ZE=FF®



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+_-A=+—H

1. EBFHFM
BRESZHNEENNWT ¢

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

The emoluments of each director are set out below:

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Performance scheme Total
Fees inkind  relatedbonus  contributions  remuneration
g2 BX Bihe
re RENFZ HERA BE e BEm
US$’000 Uss$’000 US$'000 Us$’000 US$'000
ST TEn Tin Tin Tin
[ | | ! | |
Year ended 31 December 2023 H2-Z-=fF
TZAZt-HLEE
Executive Directors: HiTES:
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BEF
(Chief executive officer) (fTH%,) - 752 625 138 1,515
LONG Liping EMT - 46 - 2 48
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
ZHOU Xijian () AER0 65 - - - 65
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
Directors:
WANG Arthur Minshiang Ta 46 - - - 46
LAU Shu Yan 2B A 31 - - - 31
ZHANG Huijun REE 31 - - - 31
173 798 625 140 1,736
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z-—F
TZA=+—HLFE
Executive Directors: HITES:
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BEF
(Chief executive officer) (frmas) - 752 450 205 1427
LONG Liping 2R = 4 - 2 4
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
ZHOU Xijian A&k 154 = = = 154
Independent non-executive BUHTES:
Directors:
WANG Arthur Minshiang TaE 4 - - = 4%
LAU Shu Yan 2 31 = = - 31
ZHANG Huijun REE 31 - = - 31
262 798 450 227 1,737
Note: 5T
() Resigned with effect from 2 June 2023. The amount above includes only () R-ZBE-_=FB-H@F - Lo EERRE
his remuneration from 1 January 2023 to date of resignation. ERZZE_=F—A—BEHTEHIHM-

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

There was no arrangement under which any director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no emolument was
paid to or receivable by any of the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office as a director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the Group (2022:
Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealings entered into by the Company or
subsidiaries undertaking of the Company, where applicable, in
favour of directors (2022: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
(2022: two) director, details of whose remuneration are set out
in Note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining four (2022: three) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

.

follows:

e SRR MR
31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

1. EBFM
FN - BET ML EEERESR
EREAMTFMN(—ZE__F : &)

RBE-_T_=F+-_A=+—HILFE "
YEAEMNES RN ERSEN
BN NBEAEER 2 RE) - SJEAAEHE
EAKERARZEFTRARASEEREE
ZAEA R R 2 R E (T ==

&) -

NBE-_Z_=F+-A=+—HILFE
RAFHRANRARMB AR (EA) BELT
VERNEEASITAZER  EEZLH
MRHG(ZEZZF &) °

REBREAFEREMERE - NI &
RAIEAFPRAREZEBMARBZE
ENEECHEBALEEREXREREETHE
BEABGZHMEARS  RHREH -

12. AfVRESHNES
FRENGSFMEERRE L (=ZFT=—
FoMA)EE HHMABEN EXHE
NeFR - BRI (ZT-—F: =) 3
ARREERTREHZESHMER Z
BB

2023 2022
—E-=HFE —E-=

Us$’000 US$'000
FEx F=T

I . I
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZMEREYA =S 878 746
Performance related bonus BB EAT 181 132
Pension scheme contributions BINEET B R 7 5
1,066 883

ERIRKEBERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= AR

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

12.

13.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 12. A EESHMES @©
The number of non-director and non chief executive highest paid IFEERIFTRAEHE 2 G FHEE ST
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands (TBx]) 2525 NEATEE 2 ABIRT :

presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$") is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH™
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F

I . Y
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T £ 1,500,000 78 7T

(equivalent to US$128,535 to US$192,802) (FBZER 128535 €T E 1928025 7T) 1 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 70 & 2,000,000 7T

(equivalent to US$192,803 to US$257,069) (FBEM 192,803 F T E 257,069 % 7T ) 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7 7T 2 3,000,000 78 7T

(equivalent to US$257,070 to US$385,604) (FBZEM 257,070 T £ 385,604 5% 7T ) 2 2

4 3

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no emolument was RBEZZE-_=F+=-A=+—HILFE "
paid to or received by any of the five highest paid employees MEREA A= MES B’
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or ZWMERMMESIERMBINMBERE R
as compensation for loss of office in connection with the 2 28 SMERBHEAEREKEIRBA
management of the affairs of the Group (2022: Nil). EBEE( T —F &) -
INCOME TAX 13. FiEH
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as following: REEERZAEHENAT

2023 2022
—E=HF —_ET-——
US$’000 USS$'000
FER FExT
I . I
Current BIVEA
— Provision for the year - REERE 175 256
— Net underprovision/(overprovision) -BAFEREEIRS
in prior years (HBERE) T 8 (16)
Total tax expense for the year FEHBERYBE 183 240
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. INCOME TAX (continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits of the qualifying group entity established in
Hong Kong are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above that amount are
subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate regime continue
to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practices in respect thereof.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
expense at the effective tax rates are as follows:

e SRR MR
31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

13. Fif8 8 =
REMAHFESREE  REBKINEGE
1% 52 B & B8 H) & 2,000,0007% 7T FE R B o A 4%
825% M B R T - BB 8 2% 7 Al
E165% KB R EH - T A FS ARSI
ZEBE AN EIT 165% T REF -

B s 0 75 B R B R 2 BB TR B A
BEFEBR OB  RIERIEPIER
RITHELHE -

ERARRARE REKZ BB AR TR
ERERATE KRG E Z BR B A A1) 2 B IR
XERERHEAE Z HIAR 2 SRR T -

2023 2022
—ZE-= ==
US$’000 USS$'000
FErx FET
I . Y
Profit before tax B 56 AT 7 2,161 1,261
Tax at the statutory tax rates of 16.5% ?AZ/JZ‘E?R 1 165% T8 2 Hi1A
(2022: 16.5%) (ZE=Z=F : 165%) 357 208
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MWEBARTRBERZE 171 (72)
Income not subject to tax BARTHA (47) 79)
Expenses not deductible for tax DL 113 340
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised in BT HBRER
previous periods MIEEE (140) (233)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 TRIAEE 211 636
Tax concession MG EE (439) (407)
Net underprovision/(overprovision) BAFEREENR
in prior years (HBEERE) FHE 8 (16)
Others HAh (51) (137)
Tax expense for the year FEDIARRX 183 240

At 31 December 2023, the Group had accumulated tax losses
arising in the PRC of US$6,355,000 (equivalent to Renminbi
("RMB")45,007,000) (2022: US$5,866,000 (equivalent to
RMB40,855,000)) for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. These tax losses will expire
from 2024 to 2034.

R-E-_=ZF+-A=+—H A&EEBRAH
PR 2 RETFHHTEE5186,355000% 7T (FAER
AR ([ARY]) 450070007T) (ZE ==
£ 1 5866,0003% 7T (5 E M A K 540,855,000
L) BRI EEABBIEBIEB AR Z KRE
RERF c ZEHEERBER-_Z-_NFZE
—ZTZPOFEIE -

ﬂ%ﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬁj
Z=FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

13. INCOME TAX (continued)

14.

15

.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has estimated accumulated
tax losses of US$9,759,000 (equivalent to HK$75,925,000) (2022:
US$9,634,000 (equivalent to HK$74,953,000)) arising in Hong Kong
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profit of the companies in which the losses arose. The tax losses
had not been confirmed by the Inland Revenue Department in
Hong Kong.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
these losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company,
and number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The Group had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for
the year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the following:

13.

14.

15.

Frig®i (@)

R-ZE-=F+-"A=+—8 A&EBFRH
BB ZAFT RET TR IERE1E 49,759,000 % 7T (A8
18759250008 7T) (ZF = = 4F : 9,634,000
X7t (FHZE R 74,953,000 70) ) » A 4 £ (R HA
IIHEE B REBM AR Z R RERDGEH
BB B M AR TS EE

P A B A TERI R 28 A SR - AN SR B3 R Bh
ZEBRERRELENAEE °

R E

EETEERAE S _=F+_A=+—
BIEFERNSEMREARE(ZE ==

/) o

BREF
BRERBANSBIDRBEARREE AR
HERGMNRFADETEBRBBTHE -

FA-AKELEERITEETEN LB -

BREAREGRN ZHETER TIEE

2023 2022
—E-= - ——

I . I
Profit Al
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 2N 2R A1 %k 5 A FE {5 |

(US$'000) SE) 1,978 1,021
Number of ordinary shares ZERHE
Number of ordinary shares in issue during FRAEETEEREE

the year (000) (Fh%) 1,509,593 1,509,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M ERERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+—-A=+—H

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - WEKRXZ®E
I . T T I

Leasehold Furniture and Motor
improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HENEXE HGARRE AE Mgt

US$'000 Us$'000 Uss$'000 US$'000

TEn FEn Txn TEn
I N I B S

Cost ﬁEZF
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—"%—H—H 1,128 2,701 379 4208
Additions RE 87 77 - 164
Disposals HE (54) (20) = (74
Exchange realignment R (42) (129 @ (175)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-A=+-H 1,119 2,629 375 4123
Additions RE 1 29 277 307
Disposals HE (188) (107) (239) (534)
Exchange realignment GRS (8) (31) (1) (40)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4+ZA=1+—H 924 2,520 412 3,856
Accumulated depreciation and 2 HERAE

impairment
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—%—A—H 984 2293 369 3,646
Charge for the year FELH 138 220 2 360
Disposals & (54) (19 - 73)
Impairment RN = 20 = 20
Exchange realignment ERTIEE: (31) (100) @ (135)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ§+-ZA=1+—H 1,037 2,414 367 3,818
Charge for the year FEZH 40 81 37 158
Disposals e (188) (105) (239) (532)
Exchange realignment P X R (7 (27) (1) (35)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+-A=+—H 882 2,363 164 3,409
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 December 2023 RNZEZ=F+-A=+—H L'y 157 248 447
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ§+ZA=1+—H 82 215 8 305

At 31 December 2022, the Group's management considered that
certain property, plant and equipment of the Group were subject
to impairment losses because the CGUs of these property,
plant and equipment were non-performing and suffered
from substantial losses. Impairment losses of US$20,000 were
recognised to write down the carrying amounts of these items
of property, plant and equipment to their recoverable amount
of nil as at 31 December 2022. The recoverable amounts of the
items of property, plant and equipment were determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of the
respective items of property, plant and equipment. There were a
number of assumptions and estimates involved in the preparation
of cash flow projections for the period covered. Key assumptions
included the expected growth in revenue and gross margins
based on past performance and management’s expectations of
the market development and selection of discount rate. The pre-
tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projection was 18%.

RZEBE-__F+-_A=+—H0 ' AEEEHE
BERAEASENETHE BERKET
ERERE BAZEVE BELEEN
REeEABNRETE  TESEAER-
BRI 2000ETER_E-__F+=A
=+ —H®R UBZEDE  BERRE
BEHNEEAEMRZEIKEEEAST - W% -
BEEREZEBEENTRESEDIRIEMEA
BENEEET  ZitEHETEAERR
EVE BENMEHESEERBIFERFR
MEEENIRES RETE o REFTEE M
ZHEREBIS REZHEBREZRMFT -2
BREBREEBRRSEREERBEREAZ
EMEUREEERMBER CBHRHUK
BhIRR 72 - RS RETERATAFATRLIR
KE18% °

ﬂ%ﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬁj
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rRa SRR MY
31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EREEE
Other
Property equipment Total
ME  HtRE et

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER FTER FTEx

1 January 2022 RZE-—_F—H—H 779 = 779
Additions NE 1,308 - 1,308
Depreciation e (759) = (759)
Impairment BB (499) = (499)
Exchange realignment b H 5 (64) = (64)
At 31 December 2022 and E’\_7 ZZF+ZA=t+—HK

1 January 2023 T-_=%—H—H 765 - 765
Additions iﬁﬁi 1,319 46 1,365
Depreciation e (742) (7) (749)
Termination Ak (115) - (115)
Exchange realignment ME H 38 B (13) - (13)
At 31 December 2023 R_TB_=F+_F=+—H 1,214 39 1,253

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s management considered
that certain right-of-use assets of the Group were subject to
impairment losses because the CGUs of these right-of-use assets
were non-performing and suffered from substantial losses.
Impairment losses of US$499,000 were recognised to write down
the carrying amounts of these items of right-of-use assets to
their recoverable amount of nil as at 31 December 2022. The
recoverable amounts of the items of right-of-use assets were
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining
useful lives of the respective items of right-of-use assets. There
were a number of assumptions and estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period covered.
Key assumptions included the expected growth in revenue and
gross margins based on past performance and management’s
expectations of the market development and selection of
discount rate. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection was 18%.
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BRAEAEBNE TEAREEFTRER
B ARAZEEAREENHSELEMNE
WAE - WEZEREE © BEEE 499,000
ENER_ZTE__F+_A=+—HBHER"
D ZEFEREEEEBNETmAEMEZ
A ESEAT - FAREEHEB M IKE
SHERBFEREEFNELAET  %iT8H
EDRAERRETRAEEAESEB F&
AFAFRUKEENRESRETDR - R
FrREfizRenesBArRZEBR
Kbt - TEBRZBEBHKZERERER
BAERRAZEFNEUREEERMIZERE
ZTEHNAREBIR R 712 - I R ETEAPT
AT RIAGIR X 5 18% ©



17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17. EAEEE )
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as TREINEZSHRABENEZ S8 -
follows:

2023 2022
—E-=HF —=E-—
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
I . Y
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 90 71
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENESD 749 759
Expense relating to short-term leases BRERBHEE X 8 75
Impairment of right-of-use assets EAEEERE - 499
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIE=ER 2B 847 1,404
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Notes 30(c) to the EHEHENB SR BERTBREME
financial statements. 30(Q) % %E -
FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. RAFEFABEZZEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS
I . I
2023 2022
—EZ=H =
Us$’000 USS$'000
FErx FET
I . Y
Club membership, at fair value eMekE(RATE) 123 167
The fair value of the club membership is determined with reference eMeE s A TELRBABE MM BN
to recent transaction prices from the relevant club. REBMETE °

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=

USss$’000 US$'000
FErx FET

I . Y
At 1 January n—H—H 167 135
Fair value (loss)/gain RNEE (BB, M= (44) 32
At 31 December ®R+=-—A=+—H 123 167

ERIRKEBERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= AR

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

19.

20.

INVENTORIES 19. #&
I . I
2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
FExR FET
I . I
Finished goods BUAK S 870 925
Allowance for inventories FERE (9) (88)
861 837
TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. B E Z R
I . I
2023 2022
—E-= = —
UsS$’000 US$'000
FER FET
I . Y
Trade receivables FEYE 5 BRI 4,599 3,870
Allowance for doubtful debts REREE (668) (660)
3,931 3,210
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEBEEFZESGREIZUEETR
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is ET EMEP, —REWERENNRIE - E
normally required. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days. BEH—RAINEVR -BEEFHEES
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to EEREE - AEEBNE AR E 2 EUIEK
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has THERFBRASIES - WRBEEETEIM - XA
a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue EZEREEERR =ATEETHRNE
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The BRIz 685 - AEE W Bt HEWE F AR
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements REE R E T E R R E i E iR (E
over its trade receivables balances. Trade receivables are non- BEfae - BB SRR TIITEAE - BIKE
interest-bearing. The carrying amount of the trade receivables ZFER EEEHEEATERE -

approximates to its fair value.
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

20. EWE ZERR @)

RBERR - BREZRAZRHAEE
BEAHZREDHTAOT

2023 2022
—E-= —ET——
US$000 US$'000
FTER FET
) O N
Within 30 days 30 R AA 2,290 1,865
31 to 60 days 31E60K 1,112 796
61 to 90 days 61 E 90K 258 148
91 to 365 days 91 £365K 363 488
Over 1 year FRIB —F 576 573
4,599 3,870

The gross carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated
in the following currencies:

FEME 5 RN BRI ARE TSR T 5 B M EHE -

2023 2022
—E-=F —_EF-=

US$’000 US$'000
FEx FE

1 F e S I
usb ETT 2,474 2,537
RMB AR 1,411 616
Others EHit 714 717
4,599 3,870

BMRHEBRERAT

R CEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rRa SRR MY
31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for doubtful debts are as
follows:

20. EWE ZERR (@)

REZEBERBRBEESHNOT

2023 2022
—E-= - ——

Us$’000 US$'000

FEx FET
I . Y
At 1 January Rn—H—H 660 1,175
Loss allowance/(reversal of allowance) ERERE (BERD) 24 219
Amount written off as uncollectible AT S 8 2 & B8 (23) (243)
Exchange differences PE 3 AR 7 (53)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 668 660
A loss allowance for doubtful debts analysis is performed RERESAMERABEERLREBER
at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure BTN UErETRBEEERE - BiEX
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days DEREEBRUBEEANZEARELHE

past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written
off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. BWE Z R )
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on LA &5 51) 75 7 {5 PR 3% 1 P B 9 AN £ [ e LR
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: Z5EREERBRAOER

21.

Past due
B
Less than 3to6 6to12 Over 12
Current 3 months months months months Total

ME PR3EA 3Z6fA 6Z1218F BB128A @t
I e I S S B S B

As at 31 December 2023 RZB=Z=f+=ZA=t-H
Expected credit loss rate BHEEERE 2.1% 2.5% 11.1% 42.9% 100% 14.5%
Gross carying amount (US$'000) EEBE(TEL) 3,283 682 54 7 573 4,599
Expected credit losses (US$'000) BEEEBR(TET) 69 17 6 3 573 668
As at 31 December 2022 WZE-ZZF+-A=+—H
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 05% 42% 123% 66.7% 100% 17.1%
Gross carrying amount (US$'000) FEBE(TER) 2120 992 162 7 569 3870
Expected credit losses (US$'000) BHEEHE(TEL) l 4 20 18 569 660
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. ANERE R RHAERROE
RECEIVABLES
I . I
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —_ET——
US$’000 USS$'000
FErx FET
I . Y
Prepayments TET IR 47 538
Deposits oA 343 411
Other receivables A e W kIR 1,847 1,834
2,661 2,783
Non-current: deposits R R (309) 221)
2,352 2,562
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to T A LA sR 2 & B & B BT HR AR A0 8%
receivables for which there was no recent history of default. ZERYHIEER - R EEEBENI2ERE
The expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss B E S BB SRABEEEGE - BB
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of the EEREEREELAZRARBRERRR
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions KRB FRIEA - AR EREMRF T ==
and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. No F+tA=+—HAWBEHREEBETEXR -
loss allowance was provided because management estimated HO ST IR R A o
that the expected credit losses as at 31 December 2023 were not
significant.

ERIRKEBERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= AR

ire BRI

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. RERBALEEER

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of the MRZBZ=F+ZA=+—H xEENA
Group denominated in RMB amounted to US$11,480,000 (2022: R®5|E 2 $R17T R IR & 488 /11,480,000 %
US$10,044,000) is not freely convertible into other currencies. JL(ZF = =4 1 10,044000F 7t) * NAI 8
However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations REB S HMER - Al - RIEHE 2 IME
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign EREOIRAEE  BSERNESERTE A
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB SENBREREETINELRER 2R
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign TRARBHBREME -

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITR SR ARTERNETE 2 ZEH
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying KB - BHEHERIERAR—RE=
periods of between one day and three months depending on the BATE SIAEEZANRESFEME
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at RERBATERTFRZNEGE o RITAERTY
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances FRR I EEXN R B EERIFRRIT
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of

default.

TRADE PAYABLES 23. ENESRAK

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RIFEHR BNESRFIZZZEAHZE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BomT :

2023 2022
—E-=F —EFq_-—

Us$’000 USS$'000
FER FE7T

I [ S
Within 30 days 30 KA 822 785
31 to 60 days 31E 60K 450 17
61 to 90 days 61 E 90K 153 -
91 to 365 days 91 365K - 19
Over 1 year FEIA —F 77 64
1,502 885

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ERNE SRR AE  —REFHAR/30

settled on 30 to 60 day terms. Z60H -

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in the ENEZERZREBEIRTIEBE -

following currencies:

2023 2022
:g: = —_=__

US$’000 US$'000
FEx F=E

1 B I I
usb ETT 313 509
RMB AR 1,189 376
1,502 885
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24.

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ire IR T
31 December2023 — L= =F+=A=+—H
ACCRUALS, PROVISIONS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. fE:tE M - BER H B FE

2023 2022
—E-= T
USs$’000 US$'000
FExn FET
I . Y
Accrued expenses and provisions EEE A REE 3,279 3,230
Other payables o E S FRIR 3,397 3,228
6,676 6,458
Non-current: provision B BB (154) =
6,522 6,458
The other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally HM @B REDTEE  —RERHA30
settled on 30 to 60 day terms. 260H -
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. R EE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHNBEZFBNOT

2023 2022
Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
I . Y
Deferred revenue EEW A 1,631 1,339
Consideration received from customers EREFKRE
in advance 9 39
1,640 1,378
Contract liabilities include the sales proceeds received from ERBEREERFPWEE @A ERAE %
customers in connection with the unconsumed virtual currency BEZHEEMSHRIE  EAELERE R AR
as deferred revenue and short-term advances received from <P an T [A) 382 P KB B9 52 ER A 5K - M0 TR R S
customers to deliver merchandise and are expected to be R—FAERAENE RZT_=F+=H
recognised as revenue within one year. The increase in contract ST —RZEHNABENDEEHRAR
liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was mainly due to increase in FiHE FTIS SRIBIE INFTEL -

sales proceeds from customers.

ERIRKEBERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 25. aAEE W
The amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting AREHEEERR RS HVFAEGNE
period that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of Bz W=

the reporting period:

2023 2022
—EBC-=fF —_EF_-—
Us$’000 USS$'000
FER FET
I . Y
IVAS revenue B B A2 (B AR TS W e 1,339 966
Sales of merchandise EmigE 39 85
1,378 1,051
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAE
. | | |
Minimum Present value of
lease payment minimum lease payment
BEASAR BEHENNRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=fE —Z--F ZB-=ZHf C-—T--F
US$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$’000 USs'000

Within one year —ER 1,038 737 991 697
More than one year, but not exceeding —F L EBNRBME

two years 505 490 493 469
More than two years, but not more than ~ ME A LB TNBBEEF

five years 75 240 73 234
Total lease payment HERRESH 1,618 1467 1,557 1400
Less: Future finance charges " RKEEER (61) 67) NATER NATES
Present value of lease obligations HEEMARE 1,557 1400 1,557 1400
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ 5 : 51218 A WEIEER 2

12 months A (991) (697)

Amount due for settlement after 1218 R E S B R 2 5B

12 months 566 703
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range HEBBEAZEEEEMNENF25%%
from 2.5% to 21.0% (2022: from 2.5% to 10.8%). 200 (ZFBZ—F : NF25%E108%) °
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27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANK BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowing, granted to a

subsidiary is denominated in RMB, guaranteed by a director of the
subsidiary and his spouse, interest bearing at 3.7% per annum,
repayable by instalment in 12 months and to be matured in 2024.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowing, granted to a
subsidiary was denominated in RMB, guaranteed by a director
of the subsidiary and his spouse, interest bearing at 3.85% per
annum, was repaid by instalments in 12 months and matured in
2023.

e SRR MR
31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

27. SRITER
R-EBE-_=F+_A=+—R0 ' BF—HEH
BRARZBRITERAAREHE  ANBA
A REERERBER  FHEE37% R
ARNREARRSPESZ THER T
FRIHE -

RN-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—0 BF—EH
BRARZBRITERAARBE  ANBA
A—REERHEMBER  FHEAE385%
FERNREARSHESEZ  YER-_T==
FERIHE -

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 28. EERIKEF
I T I I
2023 2022
—E-= =
Note UsS$’000 Us$'000
M3 FEx F=T
| 1 ] |
Defined benefit plan TEFE AR AT & @) 42 45
Lsp RERB® (b) 33 =
Other long term post-employment E & E R B RIKE A
benefits (©) 137 129
212 174
Notes: B 5E

(a) Defined benefit plan
The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for all its
qualifying employees in Taiwan. Under the plan, the employees are
entitled to retirement benefits at 3% of their final salary on attainment
of a retirement age of 55.

According to the laws and regulations in Taiwan, the Group is obliged to
pay its employees in Taiwan, upon retirement, disability or death, post-
employment benefits based on the number of years of services and
final average salary. The Group carried out an actuarial valuation as at 31
December 2023 of its obligation for post-employment benefits payable
to its employees in Taiwan.

The trustees review the level of funding in the plan by the end of each
reporting period. Such a review includes the asset-liability matching
strategy and investment risk management policy. This includes
employing the use of annualities and longevity swaps to manage the
risks. The trustees decide the contribution based on the results of the
annual review.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, the risk of changes in the life
expectancy for pensioners and equity market risk.

(a) ERBFE
AEBEREMBECERAEBRERIEMRATE
BRAET & - RIBZF B B8 FE55 RN
ZERBER TS REFHE 3% I RIREH -

RIBAEEERER  AEREARNEAEES
SNERK  BERSEMEF BN Wik
HEEREEREFHRERTFOFHE MR
BH - AEBMR-_Z=_=F+-A=+—8A
BEREBRAREBNEEET RIGEME -

ZEARZEREPREMHZABZERKF
EHREAEE BRYRERRERRERK
K BERERFERSGREBEERAR R
ARIBFEREBRREHRN

ZEHBEFAEARS REAALERSH S
(LB A TSR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

28. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued) 28. EERAER &)
Notes: (continued) Max - (8)
(a) Defined benefit plan (continued) (a) EHEEFE(E
The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined THEEMNEARAEZROHBEHEREGE
benefit obligations were carried out at 31 December 2023 by Hsiu Lin BIEEMASRBEEMR T _=4+=A4
Consulting Actuary, a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit =T —BEREABNEEREMREEET -

actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting RBEMRRAZ ETERBERROT :
period were as follows:

2023 2022
—EC=F -
% %

Discount rate BLIR 1.2 16
Expected rate of salary increase EFeERE 1.5 15
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at the RMEPRZEABRREEHBRE ST E5 ]

-

end of the reporting period is shown below:

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
net defined net defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
EREEF EREF
TR EEFHE
Mzgm ®hn CRd) FMEED> i CHd)
% US$’000 % Us$’000
FERT FER
] | | |
2023 —®B=-=
Discount rate 8538 & 0.5 (6) 0.5 6
Future salary increase ARFRIGRE 0.5 [3 0.5 (6)
2022 —E-—F
Discount rate 85 IR & 0.5 ®) 05 9
Future salary increase ARFRIGRE 0.5 9 05 ®)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method PR E AT IBERRER AT E®RES
that extrapolates the impact on net defined benefit obligations as a EE VAR TEEHNE T FE Y
result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of By HRTMEE -

the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

28. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued) 28. BRERMKER @
Notes: (continued) Max : (8)
(a) Defined benefit plan (continued) (a) TEHEEAE(E
The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or ZAt BN A BRRER T EIBRAENT

loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

2023 2022
—EB-=HF —EF-—

US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET

I . Y
Current service cost B RBK A - =
Net interest I EFHE 1 1

Net benefit expenses recognised in general and 7 — R R 1TIRB S HER 2

administrative expenses fEFIB = F 5 1 1
The movements in the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of FHEENEERFEEEZ AFEESHNOT :

plan assets are as follows:

Remeasurement gains/(losses)in

Pension cost charged to profit orloss other comprehensiveincome
REENBZEfEAA REBRERAENHEYE/(BR)
Returnon
plan asset Actuarial
(excluding changes Sub-total
Sub-total amount  arisingfrom included
included indudingin ~~ changesin inother
At Net inprofit Benefit  netinterest financial ~ Experience comprehensive  Contribution Exchange At
1 January interest orloss paid expenses)  assumptions  adjustments income  byemployer  realignment 31 December
iTHEEL
Bf(FaEE  HEER
AR MIERX  #89E%L FARMEE B
#-A-B HEFE At BEER BEE) RERE EREE WMt BiftR EREE f2Rcr-8

Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Uss'000 Us§'000 Us§'000 Us§000 Us§'000 Us§'000
iR AT AT i AT i i i i1 i1 e
1 ! ! ! ' ! ' | | ] ] |

Yearended BE-3=E1Cf
3December203  ZT-HLEE

Defined benefi TERAER

obligations 164 3 3 (37) - 4 - 4 - - 134
Firaleopinasets  FTEIEEATE (119) ) ) 3% - - - - 5) (1) (92
Beneft bty Eflak £ 1 1 ) - 4 - 4 5) (1 Q
Yearended EENES—

December  =t-RIEE

Defned beneft TERAER

obligations 197 1 1 - - (10 (6) (16) - (18 164
Rinaleofplnasets  stEEEZATE ® - - - (] - - ] 39) 8 )
Berefitlabiy [EL 13 I I - ] (10 ) ) 3) (10 &

ERIRKEBERAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
SNy

TSR T

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

28. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

Defined benefit plan (continued)

The defined benefit contributions in Taiwan are made to a fund
administered by the government of Taiwan. The major categories of
plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets of
the centrally administered fund are as follows:

28. EERNKER @)
HisE - ()

(a)

B8 (R)
NEBZERBANERDA-AHEEBNE
BESEL FREETBRERGEZTRE
BESZFHIEAEREQAFEZAALNAT

2023
—E-=

2022
T
% %

Equity instruments AT A
Debt instruments BEEITA
Deposits TR

Delegated management REERE

22 24
13 11
16 16
49 49

The Group expects to contribute US$5,000 to its defined benefit plan in
2024.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at the end of
the reporting period was 10.7 years (2022: 12.5 years).

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at
least five years are entitled to long service payments in accordance with
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances.
These circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at
the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with
reference to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the
years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme (see Note 4(t)(i)), with
an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will
officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e. 1 May 2025). Separately,
the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a subsidy
scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition
Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per
employee per year.
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BEEBEEGL (B578) XNAREBBRBES
'5E

EHREEEETEELAF EETHERATH
BREEEEBEIZERARES - 25BN
BiEEEBWMEE (BYHARETETARE
8) - BEE6SHIA LR B E TR A
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SREN2ZRENEKRE S (LR A22500%7T)
RERBESR  BREAEERBESTE (RH
FAQ0)) R MEENT M RERF SR MmE
E - BfifE B M4 LR A390,000% T © B Al -
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RS EMT -

MZZE__FXA BETEET & - BUA
EREEERbIMERESHANRERNEER
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BE BT RS 1 — IR REET &) ORI A
BH2BSERN MERINEFAETREEIMNDN
EHRBRE-ERBOED -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57) (continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group's mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the
Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition
Date LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued benefits derived
from the Group's voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-
transition can continue to be used to offset pre- and post-transition
LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will
be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly wages
immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of service up
to that date.

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation in the
current year were as follows:

fre MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

28. EERNKER @)

BsE ()

(b)

REEBERBRY (F578) XARMRESE
BE )

IRIBE TG - A SR B 9 58 1 1 58 78 2 (R
E/REEME /AR - R RE B HE A
BERANEBHBRRHANEMREEEE A
THEBREERE R BROEHREERE -
Z—AE AEEREER A - PREEMR
HHRAMEENZRERA A EEANEHBE
AR RIARBEE - dtoh - B A BIATH
RERBEETHRE  LIREEBE R A
MRE—ER TE KB EZA PN REFRET

=
=

FEEAMRzRERBSEENREEDMN
T 8

US$'000
TET

Current service cost I BRE AR 745 A AR 27
Interest cost FLBBAR 6
Closing unfunded obligation HARAKREREE 33

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2023 is
13 years.

Of the expenses for the year, US$33,000 has been included in general
and administrative expenses.

R-TE-_=F+-A=+—8 w"®ANEEFEH
AEI134F o

AEFRLF @ 33000F LB A— B RITR
FX e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

28. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57) (continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the LSP
obligation are discount rate between 4.5% to 4.84%, expected salary
increase between 2.5% and 3.7% and expected investment return on
offsetable MPF accrued benefits between 4.5% to 4.84%. The sensitivity
analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible
changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

28. EERNKER @)
HisE - ()

(b)

BEEEEEGEN (Fs7E)XNAREBRES
BEE#E)
ErTRPRESEMNESHREBIAMER
NF45%%F484%  BEHHSE RN F25%F
37% R AT SR TE © R E R F M TEHAIR & B 3R
N FA5%E484% c A THREEDTIIERME
HBRRBIAENBRLT BEREHRS
BERELEZAEARSEEET -

Increase
inrate

R =2

%

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
net defined net defined
benefit Decrease benefit
obligations in rate obligations
EHEEA EREEF
BEEFE BEEEHE
#i, (D) FEFED &M CRD)
US$’000 % Us$’000
FERr FER

2023 —F-=
Discount rate AL 38 = 0.5 (13) 0.5 13
Future salary increase RRFEEE 0.5 2 0.5 (1)
Investment return on offsetable AT R E SR

MPF contribution % & B 3% 0.5 26 0.5 (27)
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of EX2IOHRESN A TRERARB S E
the actual change in the LSP obligation as it is unlikely that the change ENEREE AABHOBREAEE  BEKR
in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the REFE N AR REBE B A& o
assumptions may be correlated.
Other long term post-employment benefits (0 HttRHESRNKER

The balance represents provision for long service payment as required
by certain jurisdictions. Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits.

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

AR E T RIAREM Bk RERBSBME -
BEREMZANESEERRIKE HATR LER
HE R B RN B REEBA SR IZ ER AR XA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. R
! | |
2023 2022
—E-=E —T__F
USs$'000 US$'000
TER FEn
I I I
Authorised: ERE
3,000,000,000 (2022: 3,000,000,000) 3,000,000000 /% (ZZF = — & :
ordinary shares of one and 3,000,000,000 %) B AR EI (&
one third US cents —X=p2—F
(2022: one and one third US cents) (Z2==F: —X=H
each 2 —F) 2 EBR 40,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
1,509,592,701 (2022: 1,509,592,701) 1,509,592, 701 R (Z B = =4 :
ordinary shares of one and 1,509,592,701 B%) B AR I (&
one third US cents —X=%2z—%*/
(2022: one and one third US cents) (ZB=-—=F: —X=%»
each 2 — ) 2 ERK 20,128 20,128

ERIRKEBERAR]
ZE=FF®



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M EERMIEE
31 December2023 —E-=F+_-A=+—H

30. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30. EEERERME

CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFBRERS
Additions to right-of-use assets during the year of FARNEFEAEEE365000FETT (=
US$1,365,000 (2022: US$1,308,000) were financed by leases T — & 1 1308000% L) LLHAEAE
liabilities. ME -

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZTBHERMNEEET
activities

Bank
borrowings

SRATIEK
Uss$’000

Lease
liabilities

HERE
Us$’000

Loan
froma
shareholder
RE—F
REEX
US$’000

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—H—H 1,161 1,347 3,856
Cash flows used in REFZFMEREME

financing activities (697) (1,169) -
New leases MEE - 1,308 =
Interest expense A BF X 28 71 =
Interest paid classified as NEAKERENEN

operating cash flows 2 ARFE - 1) =
Exchange realignment bE 5 A (76) (86) =
At31December2022and HRZZE_—F+=H1

1 January 2023 =t+t—HkK

—E_=F—H—H 416 1,400 3,856

Cash flows used in BEESAEE SRS

financing activities (136) (1,043) -
New leases FAE - 1,365 -
Interest expense BRI 22 90 -
Interest paid classified as NEAKERENEN

operating cash flows [=ENEES) - (90) -
Termination of lease WIETHE - (143) -
Exchange realignment M H S (6) (22) -
At 31 December 2023 RIZBEZ=%F

+=ZA=+—H 296 1,557 3,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IR MR

31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

30. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30. EBRERERMT @)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases (c HER ﬁ}m H 485
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement ARG RERZHEHER R T A%
of cash flow are as follows: wm

2023 2022
—E-=F —_EFEq_-—
Us$’000 US$'000
FER FE
I . I
Within operating activities L EBHEE N 98 146
Within financing activities BEESNEER 1,043 1,169
Represented by lease rental paid RESHHEHEHES 1,141 1315
31. COMMITMENTS 31. &IE
The Group had no capital commitments for the acquisition of AEBRFHERUEEEYE  HEREE
property, plant and equipment at the end of the year. BRI o
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. AEBALXRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MReRE Eﬁ%#ﬁ%ﬁ@*ﬁ DTSN ANEE
statement, the Group had the following significant transactions NENEFEBATETUTERRS :

with related parties during the year:

(a)

(b)

Loan from a shareholder (@ RB— % REREXK
At 31 December 2023, the loan from a shareholder of the R-ZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—H" ' %KEH
Company is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable AAR—EZREERBEER 5
by 22 May 2024. The repayment date of the loan was MERBER-ZZE-_NFRAZ=-Z+=H
extended to 22 May 2025 subsequent to the year end. RIEE - NEERE  BERCERBH
ERE—_ZE_AFRAHA-_+=H-
At 31 December 2022, the loan from a shareholder of the RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H"'%KEH
Company is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable ARR—EZREERBEER 5
by 22 May 2023. The repayment date of the loan was MERBER-ZZE-_=FRAA=-+=H
extended to 22 May 2024 before due date. RIEE - REIEARRA  ERZERBH
PERE_ZF_WMFRAA-_+=H-
Compensation of key management personnel of (b) XEBXTEEBEASEZHMH
the Group
I . I
2023 2022
—E=-= —E- =
Us$’000 USS$'000
FEx FET
I . I
Short term employee benefits HHEERT 1,423 1,248
Post-employment benefits 18 BiRIRIE R 140 227
Total compensation paid to key IRNFEEBBEAEZ
management personnel HrifmgR 1,563 1,475
ﬂ%ﬁﬁ.ﬁ@Aj

Z=FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

rRa SRR MY
31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of the Group’s
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Financial assets

33.

SRITEER
AEFBSERNSCH T ARNBEEERYER
(EROENE

ERMEE

Financial assets at

Financial asset at
fair value through

amortised cost profit or loss Total
REHRATEL BRATEA
SREE BRZEREE @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —ZT-—F CZE-ZE -E--% CZE-=E "ZT-—F
Note Us$’000 US§'000 USs$'000 US§'000 US$'000 US§'000
HizE SE TEL Fin TEL Tin TET
I I I I I I I D
Financial asset atfairvalue  RATEFABEZ
through profit or loss SHAE 18 - = 123 167 123 167
Tradle receivables EWESZER 20 3,931 3210 - - 3,931 3210
Financial assets includedin 3 ATBHZE - &2 R
prepayments, deposits EfbliEe
and other receivables SHAE 2 2,190 2045 - - 2,190 2,045
Bank deposits with initial  iAEFEHR=AA
term of over three RIER
months 3,538 3724 - - 3,538 3724
Cashand cash equivalents  R& RG2S EAE 2 16,602 14482 - = 16,602 14482
26,261 23661 123 167 26,384 23828
Financial liabilities SREE

1 ! I ] |
Financial liabilities

=R
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E-=
Note Uss$’000 US$'000
Bt 5E FEx FET
! | I | |
At amortised cost HEEK A2
Trade payables FERTE 5 AR 23 1,502 885
Loan from a shareholder KE—BREER 32(a) 3,856 3,856
Accruals, provisions and other EEtER - BER
payables H e 5 IR 24 6,676 6,458
Bank borrowings |ITHER 27 296 416
12,330 11,615
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 1,557 1,400
13,887 13,015
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 34.

Management has assessed that the fair values of bank deposits
with initial term of over three months, cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables, a loan from a
shareholder, accruals, provisions and other payables, and bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss is determined with reference to recent transaction prices.

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

e SRR MR
31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

AFEMNE
BERECHENREFRPE=[EA 2RT
TR REeMREEEEE  BERESHERER
AEATEM IR - REREMERFAZ SR
BEE EBNUEZER K —2BRRER-
FEETER - BEREMENKBERLRITE
RZ A FEEEREERES  TEARZE
TAZEERRE -

BATEFNBGZZEMEEZATED

TREJAEB SR T A AP EFERER:

Fair value measurement using

RRAUTERETAVETNE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIER™ S EATHE EBEATITHZE
ZHE WAE BWAE
(%8—H) (2=@) (=) @t
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
TExn TEx TER TER
I I | | |
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%
+=ZH=+—H
Financial asset at fair value through IR AP EF A 1B
profit or loss JERMEE - 123 - 123
As at 31 December 2022 RZE—Z
+=ZA=+—~H
Financial asset at fair value through R AP Bt A
profit or loss LEREE = 167 = 167

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

FRF-EHFE-_EBI2ETEAFETE
ZEE NEEBETREEAE B (=T
TTF ) o

R-E-—=ExR—T-——F+-A=+—§8 -
AEFETETMZATEFEZEHEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R

31 December2023 —E-_=F+=-A=+—8H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35 B EREEEERBXR
AND POLICIES
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: AEBERAELHETBERR : SNERB
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of FEERRETBESRR EFERTKE
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these EEBREZZRAR 2 BEABEHERE
risks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial WBRBA2BETNZERZ &R - 28
performance and they are summarised below. LUl
Foreign currency risk SMEE | i
The Company’s functional currency is the US$ and the functional RRAR e EB RBET  MATHHBR
currencies of majority of the subsidiaries are the US$, HK$ and A2 ER RET BLRARKE - K&
RMB. The Group's transactions, trade receivables and trade Boi5 BBRESERARENEZERERE
payables are mainly denominated in these currencies. ZLA Lt EEHI(E -
As the exchange rate of the US$ and HKS is pegged, management ARETEABTEERREN  WEREERARN
considers the foreign exchange risk in this respect is not significant. It 75 T 2 FINE R B 37 S B2 K o
The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and liabilities REBTEBBAAEZETRBTAINGE,E (5F
held in currencies other than the US$ and HKS in particular RMB MEARB)BECEKEERBE  HBR
to ensure that net exposure is kept at an acceptable level, and will BEEZFRBRHEFNAEIKE UEBH
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should ERZERHHPERINERR - TRIITEZE
the need arise. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at MEHMKTMBEEMASZEEZSRTIE 2
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change BRAT BEEEERBEAFEZHEHAN
in RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of SEBRBAARNEARKEXRSIER g2 #
the Group’s profit before tax due to changes in the fair value of &) 2 BURE o

monetary assets and liabilities.

2023 2022

—=E-= - —
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) (decrease)
foreign in profit in profit
currency rate before tax before tax

SN BE & BB A 2 B B A0 7
ERATE) & /082) #Ei/ Ofd)

% Us$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
I I I I
If US$ weakens against RMB METHARERE 5 32 35
If USS strengthens against RMB 3= 7T 34, A R FHE (5) (32) (35)
The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose REERBINEBHEETIRE  MHEE
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. EFERAENNSRERR - A - ARG
However, as the net foreign exchange exposure of the foreign INETE 2 FIMNERBRAEW NEKX - MAE
operations is not significant, the Group does not actively hedge & B A7 37 /75 15 5 bt NG LR o

this foreign exchange exposure.
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Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from
its operating activities (primarily trade receivables). The Group
trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from bank deposits
with initial term of over three months and cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2023. The amounts presented
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

e SRR MR
31 December2023 —E-=+=-A=+—8H

35 BiIEMEEEERBE®

EERER
EERBREXSHFEEBTERIAR
BEFEHNEAETEEMaIRERBRNRER -
AEBHEHBREEELE RS (TER/ERE
SEF) 2 EERR AEBER@RERR
NMEBRHZE=ZTTRG - REBBRRRTE
ERNEEMRSZEFPABBERE
B2 o WM AEERBEREBWFIRSES
B MASEAR ZZERERIL FEK -

AEBEMES NG HREB=A 2 &7
ERARBRERREEFERBELEZEE
RBRER RERXZHFRBEREEFR
BETERSEEFTRZRITRUBEE
AEERR/EERRAK -

TREINERAEEEFERR(HDETER
REEER  RIFEMERBFENETILE
RSB NI RE) NEEEEREE
BARER UWER-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—
BNEAARESE - 20N EN AT R
BEMR@MAE -

12-month expected credit Lifetime expected credit losses
losses (Stage 1) (Simplified approach) Total
tZAARAREER PHRARERR
(E-KR) (L) it
2023 2022 2023 2002 2023 2022
ZECCE “BCCF ZECCE it S ZECCE S
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
T OTEL AR FER TEL T
| | | | ] |
Trade receivables EWE 5% - - 4,599 3810 4,599 3870
Financial assets included n prepayments, T ATRTFUE » &R
deposits and other receivables E NGRS REE 2190 245 - - 2190 245
Bank deposits with initial termofover AR A=A 2
three months BiTER 3,538 374 - - 3,538 374
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHeSEER 16,602 1448 - - 16,602 1448
22,330 20451 4,599 3870 26,929 13N

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group'’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20
to the financial statements.

BERAEERRKREZRFIAAZEER
B — P E(CERR M RERM G 204K E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of banking facilities.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

35 BIXEREEEERBE @)

REBE SRR
AEBEZBERRERNMARTEE  &EE
ERFEREEETRTE HERTE -

AREBRBEEMRRIBEC AT ERRA R
ATz ERMAEIMBERAT

Within 1 year 1to 5 years Total

-ER -E1f @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“BIZE “E-Ck “BIZE —E-Ck “BIZE “E-Ck
Us$'000 USS000 Us$'000 USS000 Us$'000 USS000
Tin i Tin i Tin i

I I I I I I D

Trade payables ERE A& 1,502 885 - - 1,502 885
Loan from a shareholder RE—ERRER 3,856 385% - - 3,856 3856
Accruals, provisions and other payables  E:TE R - BERE MR 6,522 6458 154 - 6,676 6458
Bank borrowings R/TER 299 48 - - 299 48
Lease iabiltes HEER 1,038 77 580 730 1618 1467
13217 12,364 734 730 13,951 13,094

At 31 December 2023, bank facilities of US$5,141,000 (2022:
US$5,141,000) have been granted to certain subsidiaries which
are subject to guarantee given to the bank by the Company, of
which no facility was utilised at year end (2022: Nil).

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders'value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’

equity.

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre MR
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36. XA A Z BT AR R &

COMPANY
1 [ I I
2023 2022
:E: = =
US$’000 US$'000
FEx T=Ex
1 [ e I
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries REB AR ZIKE 7,057 5,861
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FEMRRIE B R
other receivables E {th fE W FRIE 4 31
Due from a subsidiary FEUW — P B A B RIE 9,882 8,764
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 38 37
Total current assets mEEEEE 9,924 8,832
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals E:tEH 53 146
Loan from a shareholder KE—BIRERER 3,856 3,856
Total current liabilities neaEEE 3,909 4,002
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 6,015 4,830
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEAER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE 13,072 10,691
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FREBEE
Post-employment benefits & B RWNER 1 =
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,071 10,691
EQUITY =
Share capital A& A 20,128 20,128
Reserves (Note) bt (B 5E) (7,057) (9,437)
TOTAL EQUITY A 13,071 10,691

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis Z & F

Director 2%

R-ZE-NMFE=ZA-+tBEL=EE<dE

Wi FIESFRKREE

LONG, Liping &€ %I ¢
Director %F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR SRR M R
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. QA Z M BARR K ()
COMPANY (continued)
Note: M sk -
A summary of Company’s reserves is as follows: AABZREEREZQOT -

Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Capital Accumulated
premium reserve surplus* reserve losses Total
EXHE
BRAEE wE  EABK  ELARE RiEE @t

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2022 RZZZZ%—Ff—H 153,409 48 9,883 1,695 (178232 (13,197)

Total comprehensive income for the year & 2 E N A &% = = = = 3,760 3,760

At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZHE+ZA=Z+-HR

1January 2023 —E-=%-f-H 153,409 48 9,883 1,695 (174,472) (9,437)

Total comprehensive income for the year & 2 EI A 858 - - - - 2,380 2,380

At 31 December 2023 R-B-=#+=-A=+-H 153,409 48 9,883 1,695 (172,092) (7,057)

8 The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the ? RARZERBBIERIBSHMKIENTB QR
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the f&fn 2 A FEBEARBARIGMEITZ ]G
reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued HEZZ8 REARE-NN—FRaDE"
in exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the KRR BHRBREIHD R TRERFEA °
contributed surplus account of the Company is distributable to equity R RRBETIBERTBREZRBHRPE
holders. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend IRSORM RS HIEL DR : () RSB EEZ A
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would Mz BES () AEEZAIZREAEINEE
after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due BREBEITRAURRMRER 25 -

or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

Daohe Global Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. T EMfIB AR EH

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023

are as follows:

RZZB_=F+-A=+—HB FEWER

Place of incorporation/

registration
Name and business

FMKL/
g MR ER LY

AZHBENT :
Nominal value
of issued and Percentage of equity
fully paid attributable to
ordinary share/ the Company Principal
registered capital Direct Indirect activities
BRTRAR
ZER /SR ARFEEREEDL
EXEE EE B TEEHR

Blue Ocean International Group Limited? British Virgin Islands

ESAREEARAR? KERBRES
Daohe Management Limited Hong Kong
BHNERERAR BB

Foshan Chaogi Culture Co, Ltd**#
BLTAE U BRAR

People’s Republic of China
hEARANE

Foshan Lemeng Trading Co,, Ltd**
FITEHE HBRAF

People’s Republic of China
hEARAME

Glory Sino Limited? British Virgin Islands

REEBAREE

Leyi Science and Technology Co. Ltd.**
ATEEREERAR

People’s Republic of China
hEARAME

Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited? British Virgin Islands

ERERRES
Linmark Agency (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong
BB

Linmark Development (BVI) Limited? British Virgin Islands

REBARRES

Linmark Holdings Limited? British Virgin Islands

REEBAREE

¥ For identification purpose only

US$T - 100 Investment holding

(E REER

HKS1 100 - Provision of management

187 services
REE R RS

RMB500,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise

AR 5000007 BEmES

RMB500,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise

AREE 5000007 AmE

US$1 100 - Investment holding

(E REER

RMB10,000,000 - 100 Software and information

AR 100000007 technology services and

development
RHENE SRS R
F%

US$50,000 - 100 Investment holding

50000 7T REEKR

HK$10,000 - 100 Procurement agent

100007 7T REBAE

US$1 - 100 Procurement agent

E RERE

US$1 100 - Investment holding

(E REER

* EHREE

ERIRKEBERAR]
ZE=FF®
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37. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. T EMfB AR ER &)

(continued)

Nominal value
of issued and

Percentage of equity

attributable to
the Company
Indirect activities

Direct

Principal

FAREEREEDL

EE

B TEXK

Place of incorporation/  fully paid
registration ordinary share/
Name and business registered capital
ERTRAR
EMmAL/ LER
£8 B ES 3k EXEE
Linmark (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKS2
HE(BR)BRAR Bk 2B
Linmark International (Bangladesh) Ltd.* Bangladesh Taka4,120,000
)l 4120000 F
Linmark International (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$200,000
HEER (BE) AR Bk 2000007 7C
Linmark Merchandise Consultancy People’s Republic of China~ RMB 1,500,000
(Shenzhen) Limited*' HEAREM AR 15000007
HEERESHA R BERAF
Linmark Westman Investments Limited? British Virgin Islands US$T1
REARRES NET
Loovee eCommerce Company Limited Hong Kong US$100
SRTFRBEERLA &R 100%7T
Loovee Holdings Inc Cayman Islands US$160
HMERE 160 7T

¥ For identification purpose only

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

* EHRES

100 Investment holding,
procurement agent,
trading of merchandise
and provision of
management services

REZMR  RBEAE
BAmEsRREHEE
b0y

100 Procurement agent

RERE

100 Investment holding and
procurement agent

REZRLRERE

100 Provision of marketing
consultancy and
product development
services, and trading of
merchandise

REHISHERARE
o 51 B PR )2
BmES

100 Investment holding

RAER

100 Trading of merchandise
BmE S

100 Investment holding

RAER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. T EMB AR ER &)

(continued)

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value

of issued and Percentage of equity

fully paid attributable to

ordinary share/ the Company Principal
registered capital Direct Indirect activities
ERITRAR

LER M ANAEERERDL

EXEE E# B TEXHR

registration
Name and business

EmRL/
£ B ES 3k
Loovee (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited Hong Kong
SREEERBRAA Bk

Loovee Science and Technology
Development Co. Ltd**3

RN BERERA )

People’s Republic of China
EIN:P

Loovee Science and Technology (Shenzhen)  People’s Republic of China

Co, Limited*'* HEAREM
("Shenzhen Loovee’)
ZmRR (RINFRAT
(TgmeR3])
Market Asia Limited Hong Kong
mEERAT Bk
Power Path Limited? Hong Kong
-l FYNGIE 0

Shenzhen Fenggi Chaopin Toy Co,
Ltd. 4
ATEEARTEERAEAR

People’s Republic of China
BEIN:P

Shenzhen Huike Zhilian Technology Co,,
Ltd*#
AHEREBRMARA R

People’s Republic of China
PEARKENE

*  For identification purpose only

HKS1 - 100 Investment holding
1T RERR
RMB12,500,000 - 100 Investment holding and
AR 1250000070 development and
operation of online social
platforms
BREERREEREE
LTS
US$1,000,000 - 100 Investment holding and
10000003 7T trading
RERREES
HK$4.426,260 - 100 Trading of merchandise
442626078 T BmE S
HKS1 100 — Provision of secretarial and
18T nominees services to
fellow subsidiaries
RRAZRMBLAREN
ERREARE
RMB100,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise
AR 1000007 HmE 5
RMB100,000 - 100 Internet information service
AR 1000007 ERBEERS

* EREE

ERIRKEBERAR]
ZE=FF®
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37. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. T EMfB AR ER &)

(continued)
I I I D D

Nominal value
of issued and Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation/  fully paid attributable to
registration ordinary share/ the Company Principal
Name and business registered capital Direct Indirect activities
ERTRAR
SR/ ZER /SR FAREERERDL
£8 SR ERLH EXEE B B TEXH
] | | | ] |
Shenzhen Jiji Chaopin Trading Co, People’s Republic of China  RMB100,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise
Lid ¢ hEARLTE AR 1000007 BmE5

AmEEAnE HERAEAF

Shenzhen Leyi Cultural Communication Co.  People’s Republic of China ~ RMB5,000,000 - 100 Sales of toys and accessories
Ltgh HEAREM AR 50000007 products

ATEE X BEERAF HETARBEEM

Shenzhen Loovee Internet Information People’s Republic of China ~ RMB2,000,000 - 100 Internet information
Services Co, Ltd* HEAREM AR 2,0000007C services

AT RN BB SRS EB@ES RS
BRARM

Tamarind International Holdings Limited® British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding

ERABRES 17T REAR
Tamarind International Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 Investment holding and

B 17T trading of merchandise
REBEBRRARES

Tamarind Trading (Shanghai) Limited*'-* People’s Republic of China ~ RMB5,500,000 - 100 Procurement agent and
AEHES (L) ERAA REARLAE AR 5500,0007C trading of merchandise
RBRERERES
Trend Xpress, Inc? British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding and
RERARES E provision of market trend
consultancy services
REERRRETSHR
ERH AR
Trend Xpress Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 Provision of market trend
B REABR A A B VET consultancy services
RIS AR R
47
*  For identification purpose only * (EHEE
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37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Notes:

The companies were registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
under the laws of the PRC.

Loovee Development is a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC and under the legal ownership of two independent
third parties nominated by the Company (the “VIE Equity Owners”).
Shenzhen Loovee, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, Loovee
Development and the VIE Equity Owners entered into certain structured
contracts namely, the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Services
Agreement, the Business Operation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement, the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, the
Power of Attorney, the Commitment Letters and the Spousal Consent
Letters (together, as “"VIE Contracts’). The VIE Contracts provide the
Group through Shenzhen Loovee with effective control over Loovee
Development.

RSM Hong Kong was not the statutory auditor of the companies.

The companies were incorporated with limited liability under the laws
of the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 27 March 2024.
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37. T EM B AT ER @)

G
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SEREBIRETBARZRIMNERAR M
RARRENMEBBLE = EBHELEEE
#(VIEREBREAEAD - ARAIOEEHREA
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HECOEBEERS BRABHERS KRB
Eiftpak  BERTE - KGR REEEE R
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RINE B B LM o
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b
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EREINEERREAFEXEEIEY
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FFEHBESE

RESULTS ¥E

. |
Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1t-HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“2-NE ZZ-%F —T-—4F —T--F CZEBEZ=f
US$'000 US$'000 Uss$'000 US$'000 US$’000
TErn TET TEL TET TEn
. ! I 1 ] |
REVENUE Wogs 65,692 42,654 62,639 51878 44,355
Cost of sales HEMA (51,156) (29.921) (41,727) (34,776) (27,302)
Gross profit EF 14536 12733 20912 17,102 17,053
Other incomne Hi A 1317 2,292 594 1,190 556
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHEERS (4,560) (2410) (3133) (2619) (2,878)
General and administrative expenses ~ — MR RITBHX (19,041) (13,956) (14,259) (14,248) (12,874)
Finance costs M%ER (119) 91) (107) (104) (113)
Gain/(loss) on dissolution of I =UNCIAL ¢y
subsidiaries (E518) (55) = 207 = -
Impairment of other intangible assets ~ E &/ & E R E (11,925) = - - -
Impairment of property, plant and 0E  BERRERE
equipment - (543) - (20) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE (52) (1,006) = (499) -
Reversal of allowance/(@llowance) for ~ FEURE 5 Bk S B B &,/
trade receivables (BH) (304) (579) (220 219 (24)
Operating profit/(loss) R/ (B18) (20,203) (3,560) 4,064 1,021 1,720
Bank interest income RTFSWA 25 68 161 240 iy
Share of loss of a joint venture Eih—REERABE 0 = = = -
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR (EE) (20,179) (3492) 4,225 1,261 2,161
Income tax (expense)/credit FiEs (A%, #e 4690 15 (139) (240) (183)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEHRH/(BR) (15489) (3477) 4,086 1,021 1,978
Profit/(loss) for the year TIATREER
attributable to: w5/ (B8) -
Owners of the Company KREEEA (15477) (3477) 4,086 1,021 1,978
Non-controlling interests FERER (12) = = = -
Dividends B2 - - - - -
Earnings/(loss) per share (US cents) BREF,/(EB) (E)
Basic HEARK (1.03) (0.23) 027 0.07 0.13
Diluted 3k (103) (023) 027 007 0.13

Daohe Global Group Limited
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AT HHRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

At 31 December
R+=-—A=+—8H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
TE-NE —E-TF B —F —FE-—F 8=
USS$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 USs$’000

TET TXET TXT TXET FXx
I A SN S S S A

Non-current assets EMBEE 2,018 2,037 1,758 1458 2,132
Current assets MENEE 24427 21,074 29,090 24,815 27,284
Total assets BEME 26,445 23,111 30,848 26,273 29,416
Current liabilities mEN A& (16,042) (14,624) (19,091) (14136)  (15,155)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (625) (1,567) (798) (877) (932)
Total liabilities BEHAS (16,667) (16,191) (19,889) (15013)  (16,087)
Net assets BEFE 9,778 6,920 10,959 11,260 13,329
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ZHOU Xijian (Chairman)

(resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chief Executive Officer and President)

LONG Liping

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
WANG Arthur Minshiang

LAU Shu Yan

ZHANG Huijun

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chairman of the Committee)

LONG Liping

AUDIT COMMITTEE
LAU Shu Yan (Chairman of the Committee)

WANG Arthur Minshiang
ZHANG Huijun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
WANG Arthur Minshiang (Chairman of the Committee)

ZHANG Huijun
LAU Shu Yan (appointed on 2 June 2023)
ZHOU Xijian (resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
LAU Shu Yan (Chairman of the Committee)

(appointed on 2 June 2023)

WANG Arthur Minshiang

ZHANG Huijun

ZHOU Xijian (Chairman of the Committee)
(resigned with effect from 2 June 2023)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEE
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chairman of the Committee)

LAU Shu Yan
CHEUNG Tsun Ching
LU Yuhua

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHENG Sau Man

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS
6/F., YHC Tower

1 Sheung Yuet Road
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Standard Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

AUDITOR
RSM Hong Kong

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Citibank, N.A.
China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd.

LEGAL ADVISER
Chiu & Partners

40th Floor, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANCIEEE

AfMREE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

HMREERTEEXE MR
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RGEBFETRE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
BREM

Listing . Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited since 10 May 2002

Stock Code . 915

Board Lot 1,000

Par Value . One and one third US cents

Trading Currency : HKS$

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
Financial period ended
Results announced

31 December 2023
27 March 2024

Interim results to be announced end of August 2024*

* subject to change

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the
Company’'s Hong Kong branch share registrar:

Tricor Standard Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Telephone:  (852) 2980 1768
Email: daohe915-ecom@hk tricorglobal.com
Facsimile: (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company’s shares should notify the Hong Kong branch
share registrar promptly of any change of addresses and/or email.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Daohe Global Group Limited
6/F., YHC Tower

1 Sheung Yuet Road
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong

Telephone:  (852) 2993 5328
Email: ir@daoheglobal.com.hk
Website: www.daoheglobal.com.hk

Daohe Global Group Limited
Annual Report 2023
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DAOHE GLOBAL GROUP LIMITED
BARREEERAF

6/F., YHC Tower, 1 Sheung Yuet Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
BANEEEHE 15REEEES 612
Tel F 5 - (852) 2993 5328

Website #8uh © www.daoheglobal.com.hk
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